Public Document Pack

Agenda
___________________________________________________________________
To all Members of the

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
Notice is given that a Meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board is to be held as
follows:
Venue

Council Chamber, Civic Office, Waterdale, Doncaster, DN1 3BU

Date:

Thursday, 11th November, 2021

Time:

9.00 am.

PLEASE NOTE VENUE FOR THIS MEETING
Please Note: Due to current restrictions arising from the Covid-19 pandemic, there will be very
limited capacity in the public gallery for observers of the meeting. If you would like to attend to
observe in person, please contact Governance Services on 01302 737462 / 736723 / 736716 /
736709 to request a place, no later than 12.00 noon on Wednesday, 10th November, 2021.
Please note that the pre-booked places will be allocated on a ‘first come, first served’ basis and
once pre-booked capacity has been reached there will be no further public admittance to the
meeting. For those who are attending the meeting, please bring a face covering, unless you
are exempt.
BROADCASTING NOTICE
This meeting is being filmed for subsequent broadcast via the Council’s web site.
The Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act and images collected
during this recording will be retained in accordance with the Council’s published policy.
Please be aware that by entering the meeting, you accept that you may be filmed and the
images used for the purpose set out above.

Damian Allen
Chief Executive
___________________________________________________________________
Issued on: Wednesday 3rd November 2021
Governance Services Officer for this Meeting

Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council
www.doncaster.gov.uk

Jonathan Goodrum, Senior
Governance Officer
jonathan.goodrum@doncaster.gov.uk

Items for consideration

Time/
Lead

1.

Welcome, introductions and apologies for absence.

2 mins
(Chair)

2.

Chair's Announcements.

5 mins
(Chair)

3.

To consider the extent, if any, to which the public and press
are to be excluded from the meeting.

1 min
(Chair)

4.

Public questions.

15 mins
(Chair)

(A period not exceeding 15 minutes for questions from
members of the public.)
5.

Declarations of Interest, if any.

1 min
(Chair)

6.

Minutes of the Meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board
held on 2 September 2021.
(Attached – pages 1 – 10)

3 mins
(Chair)

7.

Covid-19 Pandemic Update.
(Verbal Update/Cover Sheet attached – pages 11 – 12)

10 mins
(Dr Rupert Suckling)

8.

Improving Access for Patients and Supporting General
Practice.
(Presentation/Papers attached – pages 13 – 40)

30 mins
(Anthony Fitzgerald)

9.

Children and Young People's Mental Health Update: What
does the data tell us? What do our young people want?
(Presentation/Papers attached – pages 41 – 62)

25 mins
(Lee Golze/
Andrea Ibbeson)

10.

Doncaster Delivering Together – Implementation.
(Presentation/Cover Sheet attached – pages 63 – 64)

10 mins
(Allan Wiltshire)

11.

Local Solutions for People and Places: Next steps in
improving health and wellbeing together.
(Presentation/Cover Sheet attached – pages 65 – 66)

25 mins
(Phil Holmes)

12.

History, Health and Happiness: Wellbeing at Heritage
Doncaster Update.
(Presentation/Papers attached – pages 67 – 110)

20 mins
(Victoria Ryves)

13.

Better Care Fund Update 2021/22.
(Papers attached – pages 111 – 140)

Date/time of next meeting:
Thursday, 13 January 2022 9.00 am., Civic Office, Doncaster

10 mins
(Dr Rupert Suckling)

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board

Name
Cllr Rachael Blake (Chair)
Dr David Crichton (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Nigel Ball
Dr Rupert Suckling
Kathryn Singh
Steve Shore
Karen Curran
Richard Parker
Jackie Pederson
Phil Holmes
Riana Nelson
Cllr Andrea Robinson
Cllr Cynthia Ransome
Chief Superintendent Melanie
Palin
Ellie Hunneyball
Rebecca Wilshere
Dan Swaine
Dave Richmond
Laura Sherburn
Lucy Robertshaw
Cath Witherington

Job Title
Portfolio Holder for Children’s Social Care,
Communities and Equalities
Chair of Doncaster Clinical Commissioning Group
Portfolio Holder for Public Health, Leisure, Culture
and Planning
Director of Public Health, Doncaster Council
Chief Executive RDaSH
Chair of Healthwatch Doncaster
Head of Co-Commissioning, NHS England
(Yorkshire & Humber)
Chief Executive of Doncaster and Bassetlaw
Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Chief Officer DCCG
Director of Adults, Health & Wellbeing, Doncaster
Council
Director of Learning, Opportunities & Skills,
Doncaster Council
Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care
Conservative Group Representative
District Commander for Doncaster, South Yorkshire
Police
Group Manager, South Yorkshire Fire and Rescue
Deputy Chief Executive of Doncaster Children’s
Services Trust
Director of Economy & Environment, Doncaster
Council
Chief Executive, St Leger Homes
Chief Executive, Primary Care Doncaster
Health and Social Care Forum Representative
Chief Executive, Voluntary Action Doncaster

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
THURSDAY, 2ND SEPTEMBER, 2021
A MEETING of the HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD was held in the COUNCIL
CHAMBER - CIVIC OFFICE on THURSDAY, 2ND SEPTEMBER, 2021, at 9.00 a.m.
PRESENT:
Councillor Rachael Blake, Portfolio Holder for Children’s Social Care,
Communities & Equalities
Vice-Chair - Dr David Crichton, Chair of Doncaster Clinical Commissioning Group
Chair -

Councillor Nigel Ball
Councillor Andrea Robinson
Councillor Cynthia Ransome
Karen Barnard
Steve Shore
Phil Holmes
Lucy Robertshaw
Dr Rupert Suckling
Riana Nelson
Cath Witherington
Ellie Hunneyball

Portfolio Holder for Public Health, Leisure, Culture &
Planning
Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care
DMBC Conservative Member Representative
Doncaster & Bassetlaw Teaching Hospitals Trust
(Substituting for Richard Parker)
Chair of Healthwatch Doncaster
Director of Adults, Health and Wellbeing, Doncaster
Council
Assistant Director, Darts
Director of Public Health, Doncaster Council
Director of Learning, Opportunities & Skills, Doncaster
Council
Chief Executive, Voluntary Action Doncaster
Group Manager, South Yorkshire Fire & Rescue

Also in Attendance:
Councillor Sarah Smith
Allan Wiltshire
Susan Hampshaw
Michele Clark
Jo Forrestall

12

Head of Policy, Performance & Intelligence, Doncaster
Council
Head of Service (Public Health Delivery), Doncaster
Council
Doncaster Clinical Commissioning Group
Doncaster Clinical Commissioning Group

WELCOME, INTRODUCTIONS AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
The Chair, Councillor Rachael Blake welcomed Ellie Hunneyball (SY Fire & Rescue)
to her first meeting of the Board.
It was noted that apologies had been received from Dave Richmond (SLHD),
Dan Swaine (DMBC), Chief Superintendent Melanie Palin, Richard Parker (DBTH),
Jackie Pederson (DCCG) and Kathryn Singh (RDaSH).

Page 1

13

CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
The Chair informed members that arising from recent discussions with the Director of
Public Health on the work of the Board, she was proposing that an Annual Report of
the Health and Wellbeing Board be produced, commencing from April 2022. The
Report would summarise the work undertaken and actions taken by the Board each
year and illustrate the different ways that the Board and its constituent partner
organisations were working to improve the health and wellbeing of Doncaster
residents. The Chair hoped that by producing such a Report, it would also provide a
means of reporting on some subjects and issues that were not usually reported on
elsewhere. The Chair also felt it was important to demonstrate that the Board had
listened to members of the public who attended meetings to address the Board on
various issues.
To that end, the Chair explained that Louise Robson, support officer for the Board,
would be in touch with Board members on a regular basis, to follow up on progress
with actions taken at each Board meeting to feed into the Annual Report.

14

PUBLIC QUESTIONS
There were no questions received from the public.

15

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST, IF ANY
There were no declarations made at the meeting.

16

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD HELD
ON 10TH JUNE 2021
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Health and Well Being
Board held on 10 June, 2021, be approved as a correct record and signed by
the Chair.

17

DIRECT IMPACTS OF COVID-19
Dr Rupert Suckling gave an update to the Health and Well Being Board with regard to
the present situation in the Borough regarding Covid-19 and its impact on the
borough, health provisions and the local communities and what was being done
moving forward.
Information was provided on the following issues: Covid-19 rates of infection in the borough, hospital admissions, and ITU levels
at the present time compared with September 2020.
 The vaccination programme and how it was being rolled out
 The potential impact of the re-opening of schools on positive case rates among
children and school staff.
 The significant backlog pressures in other areas of health care provision and
how this would be managed going into the winter.
 Impact on key and critical workers.

Page 2

Dr David Crichton also updated the Board on the forthcoming flu immunisation season
and the recently announced first cohort of people who would be offered a third dose
Covid-19 booster vaccine.
RESOLVED that the update be noted.
18

JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT (JSNA) UPDATE
Allan Wiltshire, Head of Policy Performance and Intelligence (DMBC) gave a
presentation to the Board which provided an interim update showcasing the work done
to date in terms of developing new products in the light of a revised JSNA policy and
next steps. He shared examples of 2 new publications – the first being an interactive
demographics dashboard, which provided data on various themes including
population, employment and wellbeing. The second product was a dashboard
providing a suite of information on the JSNA Outcomes. Both products had been
developed with a focus on accessibility and public facing information.
The presentation concluded with a number of ‘asks of the HWB Partnership’. These
comprised:




Continue to feed into local outcomes developments;
Contribute to the repository; and
To focus on the ‘operations’ strand of the JSNA Plan to complement the winter
planning and resilience work.

Discussion followed, during which the Board members made various
comments/observations on the new interactive dashboards, including:-

Page 3



The value of the dashboards as tools in identifying the priorities in the health
service in relation to the population health approach and tackling health
inequalities. In addition, the health and care bill currently going through
Parliament referenced the JSNA as a tool to be used across the Integrated
Care Systems of the future, so the data would also be useful in that regard.



With regard to the mechanisms for keeping the data up-to-date and showing
changes over time, such as the impacts that policies and interventions were
having in communities, Allan Wiltshire explained that while some of the
outcome data did show trends over a 5 year period, he acknowledged that
there was scope for doing more work in the way of tracking in the models.



It was recognised that this would be a useful tool for the Community and
Voluntary Sector in dealing with applications and learning more about the
communities they were working with, and a question was asked as to when the
dashboards would go live and be available for use. A Board Member also
queried whether issues such as loneliness and social isolation would be
tracked alongside the other Wellbeing topics such as fuel poverty and
deprivation. In reply, Allan Wiltshire confirmed that the demographics
dashboard was expected to be ready in the next couple of weeks, with the
outcomes dashboard following shortly afterwards. With regard to Wellbeing,
Allan explained that National data was being collected in relation to issues such
as anxiety, wellbeing and happiness and this would be incorporated within the
outcomes for Doncaster enabling these areas to be tracked.



A Board Member welcomed the new products, but spoke of the importance of
not being sucked into the idea that data is the only arbiter of the difference we
are making and that, instead, it was important to recognise ‘voice’ as being the
day to day arbiter of how well we are doing. He also stressed that there was a
need to ensure that our practices took a heads up approach on this and asked
people about the impacts that services were having on their lives, instead of
just relying on data tracking.



It was felt that the new dashboards would be very useful and helpful in terms of
strategic planning and the Board fully supported the new products.



The Chair felt it would be useful to show the years in the data so that people
using the dashboards could see how up-to-date the information was. She then
spoke of the data relating to communities and urged caution as regards the way
this was presented as this could potentially be used in a negative way.
Similarly, she felt that some of the comments about having an ageing
population could come across as being negative in the data, and it was
important to celebrate the fact that there was an ageing population, rather than
focussing on the negative aspects. The Chair also suggested that it would be
useful to take a wider, inclusive approach to collecting data in the dashboards,
for example, by including relevant information from surveys conducted by the
voluntary sector, or from organisations such as Healthwatch Doncaster. In
reply, Allan Wiltshire stated that the data could be labelled to show the years.
He also confirmed that wider research and survey findings could be collated
and integrated within the dashboards, and he agreed that it was important to
consider the tone of the wording and how information was presented to avoid
negativity.

Allan Wiltshire informed the Board that a further update could be brought to the
Board’s next meeting in November when it would be possible to demonstrate the full
products.
The Chair reminded partners that they were invited to submit information that they
wished to see included in the repository.
RESOLVED to:1) Note the findings of the JSNA to date; and
2) Support the forthcoming ‘amnesty’ of wider products, reports and research
to be added to the Team Doncaster repository.
19

HEALTHWATCH DONCASTER - ANNUAL REPORT AND SERVICE UPDATE
Steve Shore presented the Healthwatch Doncaster Annual Report for 2020-21
together with a service update.
Regarding future plans and projects, the Board noted, in particular, the following
priorities identified by Healthwatch Doncaster for 2021-22:
1. Restart community engagement and listen to local people about their experiences
of accessing services

Page 4

2. Mental Health – listen to people’s experience of mental health support in
Doncaster
3. Access to Dental Care –review and investigate the provision of local Dental
services for local people
And to achieve the above priorities, the next steps were:




Transforming the way that Healthwatch worked – Healthwatch Doncaster will be
more agile and community-based
Maintaining digital engagement alongside face-to-face engagement
Continue to focus on listening to people from communities whose voices are
seldom heard

In referring to the current priorities identified by Healthwatch, Councillor Nigel Ball
queried whether it was planning to carry out any further in-depth work to measure the
scale of the problems that people were currently facing in trying to access GP
services, particularly in the light of the pandemic and the impact this was having on
waiting times and backlogs in services. He also asked whether Healthwatch had any
up to date information outside of the Annual Report on the latest position as regards
accessibility to GP services. In reply, Steve Shore advised that he did not have any
up-to-date information on this subject to hand, but he stated that this issue would be
taken through the patient participation group for Doncaster that was facilitated by
Healthwatch. This group comprised 2 representatives of patients from each GP
practice in Doncaster, and was a useful means of obtaining a snapshot picture of the
current situation, and patient opinions, in relation to GP services across the Borough.
Councillor Ball added that this was not a case of wishing to name and shame
individual GP practices, but he asked whether it would be possible to geographically
map hot spots across the Borough where there were significant accessibility issues
and feed this information back to the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). In
response, Steve Shore explained that this would be possible and that Healthwatch
was always happy to share its findings with the GP practices, the CCG and, looking to
the future, the Integrated Care System. Councillor Ball concluded by referring to the
fact that GP Practices had been diversifying in relation to how some services were
provided to meet the challenges of the pandemic and, on a positive note, was pleased
to see that virtual and telephone appointments with GPs had been generally well
received by patients.
In acknowledging Councillor Ball’s comments, Dr David Crichton stated that it was
clear that patients were having problems with accessing GP services at the present
time and that a backlog of care across the wider health service had built up over the
past 18 months. He stressed that this was a challenge that would not be resolved in
the short term. Dr Crichton stated that the CCG had a good working relationship in
Doncaster with Healthwatch and was working with them to look at the current
challenges and to get a ‘sense check’ on the current situation. He also pointed out
that the CCG’s governing body was also due to consider the Annual Report later
today.
The Board was sorry to hear that Andrew Goodall would be stepping down from his
role as Chief Operating Officer at Healthwatch Doncaster in the near future and
members wished to place on record their thanks and appreciation for his work over the
years. In reply to a comment regarding recruitment arrangements for Andrew’s
replacement, Steve Shore offered to provide a copy of the recruitment pack for

Page 5

circulation to Board members when available, so that they could assist in publicising
the vacancy across their organisations.
Phil Holmes commented that having a thriving Healthwatch was vital for the health
and wellbeing of residents in the Borough. He felt that Healthwatch needed to be fully
supported by the organisations around it and asked whether there was anything more
that partners could be doing to assist in this regard. In reply, Steve Shore stated that
he was pleased with the levels of support that Healthwatch received from partner
organisations, although he stated that he would like to work closer with hospitals in the
future. He explained that he was also looking to increase the number of Healthwatch
Board members in order to share the load in terms of representation and to help
increase Healthwatch’s footprint.
Councillor Cynthia Ransome highlighted the fact that access to dental care was also a
significant problem at the current time. She commended Steve and the Healthwatch
staff for their efforts and the work they did, stating that she had received good reports
from people who had been in contact with Healthwatch for advice.
After the Board had made a number of further comments/observations on the Annual
Report and had thanked Steve and all of the Healthwatch Doncaster staff for their
continued hard work, it was
RESOLVED to:
1) Place on record this Board’s thanks and appreciation to Andrew Goodall,
Chief Operating Officer at Healthwatch Doncaster, who was due to step
down from his role in the near future; and
2) To receive the Healthwatch Doncaster Annual Report 2020-21 and note
the contents and achievements.
20

BORN AND BRED IN DONCASTER RESEARCH PROGRAMME
Susan Hampshaw, Head of Service (Public Health Delivery), DMBC gave a
presentation to the Board on the Doncaster Born and Bred Research Programme,
which was being led by DBTH.
This programme aimed to help improve the health and wellbeing of children and
families across Doncaster by recruiting to a Doncaster birth cohort to bring together a
range of data sets. This would enable the health of these children to be tracked from
pregnancy through childhood and into adulthood and provide partners with a much
greater understanding of what families wanted and needed.
It was noted that this project built on the ‘Born in Bradford’ programme, and would be
a great resource that could be called on over time and built into the JSNA.
Various Board members welcomed this research project and gave their support to the
work, which would help the partnership in gaining a better understanding of what local
families want and need from healthcare services across the Borough.
Dr David Crichton stated that this was an exciting project and pointed out that there
were 5 GP practices in the Borough that had taken part in research projects for some
years, and Doncaster, particularly RDaSH, had been at the forefront of recent

Page 6

research into the co-administration of Covid and Flu jabs which he felt was worth
acknowledging.
In response to an offer of support from Riana Nelson with regard to utilising family
hubs as a means of raising awareness of this project with young mums and families,
Susan Hampshaw confirmed that it was recognised that frontline staff working out in
the communities and family hubs were invaluable in terms of signposting people to the
opportunities offered by the Born and Bred in Doncaster programme.
Dr Rupert Suckling stressed that the reality over the next few years was going to be
that resources would be stretched and this would mean that partners would be looking
to research as one way of funding additional activities in the future.
RESOLVED to note the presentation and endorse the outlined approach.
21

ADULT SOCIAL CARE - UPDATING OUR VISION AND IMPROVING OUR ACCESS
Phil Holmes, Director of Adults, Health and Wellbeing (DMBC) gave a presentation to
the Board explaining the steps being taken to improve access to, experience of,
outcomes from and value for money of Adult Social Care, which would both directly
improve health and wellbeing for people who came into contact with it and also enable
better use of wider resources to support the health and wellbeing of others.
Phil explained that it was intended to try and develop an approach to Adult Social
Care that felt like it was more research and data driven, but also critically more about
‘voice’ and talking to people in day to day work. He stressed that when he stated that
services needed improving, he was not being critical of staff who were doing a brilliant
job, but that he was being more self-critical, as it was about improving the system
within which staff were having to operate.
With regard to the vision and purpose of the Adult Social Care service, Phil stated that
the vision needed to start by focussing on the people we are serving and ensuring that
the service was right for them. It was acknowledged that the present system did not
always meet expectations and achieve the outcomes that people wanted. He added
that it was hoped to invite people with lived experience to a future meeting to speak to
the Board.
He explained that other aspects of Adult Social Care delivery that were being reframed included:





Page 7

A focus on community prevention and having better conversations when people
were in crisis;
Removing bureaucracy – the best Councils were moving away from red tape
and bureaucracy which, for example, meant having appreciative enquiry
conversations with people about their specific needs instead of filling out 20
page assessments;
Ensuring that Adult Social Care was engaged with locality working, with staff
who were connected to their local communities;
Adopting the national ‘Making it Real’ framework which set out a range of ‘I’ and
‘We’ statements which helped set out obligations of service providers and
expectations of how people should be treated.

During subsequent discussion, Dr Rupert Suckling referred to the making it real ‘We’
statements and felt it would be useful to incorporate some of these in the next Health
and Wellbeing Strategy as an aid for partners to hold themselves to account. He also
asked how the issue of homes and housing was being addressed. In reply, Phil
Holmes confirmed that ‘home’ featured strongly within the vision, and he explained
that this was picked up in two of the Making it Real statements, namely ‘The Place I
live in feels like home’ and ‘My house has been changed to suit me’.
Lucy Robertshaw suggested that it would be good to have a detailed conversation at
the Health and Social Care Forum on this topic at some point in the future.
In reply to a question by the Chair as regards next steps, Phil Holmes explained that
as a result of recently changing the case management system used by his service, a
number of issues had been highlighted such as why certain forms were being filled
out, so there would be a focus on working practices and administration. A further
piece of work currently being undertaken was concerned with looking at flows and
hospital discharge, which was related to people’s rights, so that people were more
aware of their rights and responsibilities in hospital, and then streamlining the way
people were dealt with to increase capacity for getting people home and supporting
them. He also emphasised that these were challenging times and that stress levels
were currently high amongst the workforce.
Dr David Crichton stated that he would take away some actions from the
Commissioning Group’s perspective having heard Phil’s comments today, as he felt
that it was also important that health partners showed their commitment to helping the
Adult Social Care service with these processes and proposed changes to how
services were provided. He commented that partners had been forced to work
together differently during the pandemic in supporting people and he felt it was
important that this new way of working continued in the future. He also stressed the
need to inject more pace in integrating the neighbourhood teams more with health
partners to help develop the neighbourhood approach.
RESOLVED:1)

To endorse and give a commitment to supporting the vision and statement
of purpose for Adult Social Care in Doncaster;

2)

To endorse the Making It Real framework and work already underway
alongside / accountable to people with lived experience to turn the vision
into reality;

3)

That Board members note and actively pursue the opportunities provided
within the Adult Social Care vision for joint working across the health and
care partnership on shared goals e.g. Locality Working / Primary Care
Networks, Preparation for Adulthood, Home First / Discharge to Assess,
Transforming Care / Mental Health Transformation; and

4)

That Officers liaise with the Chair of the Board to determine any further
reporting required, perhaps incorporating time for direct feedback from
people with lived experience.

Page 8

22

AGEING WELL UPDATE ON DEMENTIA
The Board received a presentation by Michele Clarke and Jo Forrestall (DCCG) which
provided an update on progress with the Dementia Programme.
Key topics highlighted included:









The various awareness campaigns co-ordinated by Public Health throughout
the year;
It was reported that diagnosis rates had fallen from 73.2% in February 2020 to
63.6% in June 2021. The national ambition was a diagnosis rate of 66.6%.
There was also a decreased number of patients on dementia registers, the
reasons for which were summarised;
Diagnosis Recovery Plan, including the actions and recommendations
highlighted in the Dementia Deep Dive 2019;
Dementia Pathway approach – diagnosis, assessment and treatment;
Post diagnostic care and support;
Post diagnostic services; and
Links to Ageing Well.

In answer to a query as to whether the funding of the Admiral Service would continue
beyond March next year, Jo Forrestall explained that there were no plans to pull any
funding at this stage, but the aim was to look at all elements of services provided
across the whole of the Dementia pathways in order to avoid duplication and ensure
that people received the support they needed at every stage, i.e. both pre and post
diagnosis.
Dr Rupert Suckling felt that this was an example that highlighted the need to address
the question of how to balance strength based against deficit based models. He
added that he was always concerned when diagnosis was needed in order to unlock
support services when, in reality, people needed support whether they had a
diagnosis or not. On the latter point, Jo Forrestall stated that this was where the prediagnosis support was so important.
In reply to a question from Councillor Nigel Ball regarding data comparisons with
South Yorkshire neighbours in relation to diagnosis rates, Michele and Jo confirmed
that diagnosis rates across the country had declined and were all at very similar rates.
They confirmed that they would be happy to circulate some comparative data to Board
members.
Phil Holmes referred to the work currently being undertaken on the Carers Strategy
and he felt that this could assist in raising awareness of dementia and the needs of
people with dementia and their carers, as dementia was likely to feature prominently
as a theme in the Strategy.
Dr David Crichton confirmed that the issue of people being able to access help and
support for dementia prior to receiving a formal diagnosis was acknowledged by the
CCG as a priority area and currently being looked at. He also stressed that it was
sometimes difficult for GPs to detect the early signs of dementia in people as these
could be very subtle in nature and difficult to detect, but the earlier that support could
be given to people the better.

Page 9

Lucy Robertshaw reported that the Arts and Health Board that she sat on was
currently looking at dementia and, in particular, how cognitive stimulation using the
Arts could help people with dementia.
Cath Witherington highlighted the need to also consider the mental health and
wellbeing of carers, family members and neighbours of people with dementia.
It was then
RESOLVED to:1)

Acknowledge the Dementia Programme and its approach to increasing
dementia diagnosis rates to ensure people receive the right care and
support;

2)

Acknowledge the proposed approach to improving the dementia
pathways for Doncaster residents; and

3)

Utilise Board members in future awareness campaigns through their
respective partner organisations to assist in improving early diagnosis
rates.

CHAIR:

DATE:

Page 10

Agenda Item 7
Doncaster
Health and Wellbeing Board
Date: 11 November 2021
Subject:
Presented by:

COVID-19 pandemic update
Dr Rupert Suckling

Purpose of bringing this report to the Board
Decision
Recommendation to Full Council
Endorsement
Information

x

Implications

Applicable Yes/No

DHW Strategy Areas of Focus

Substance Misuse (Drugs and Alcohol)

x

Mental Health

x

Dementia

x

Obesity

x

Children and Families

x

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
Finance
Legal
Equalities
Other Implications (please list)

x
x
x
x
x

How will this contribute to improving health and wellbeing in Doncaster?
The purpose of this presentation is to provide an update of the direct health impacts of COVID-19 in
Doncaster and the steps taken to address them.
Recommendations
The Board is asked to:NOTE the verbal update.

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Doncaster
Health and Wellbeing Board
Date: 11 November 2021
Subject:
Presented by:

Improving Access for Patients and Supporting General Practice
Anthony Fitzgerald – Director of Strategy & Delivery – Doncaster CCG

Purpose of bringing this report to the Board
Decision
Recommendation to Full Council
Endorsement
Information

x

Implications

Applicable Yes/No

DHWB Strategy Areas of Focus

Substance Misuse (Drugs and Alcohol)

yes

Mental Health

yes

Dementia

yes

Obesity

yes

Children and Families

Yes

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
Finance
Legal
Equalities

Yes
No
No
No

Other Implications (please list)

How will this contribute to improving health and wellbeing in Doncaster?
Our plan is to ensure that access to Primary Care Services in Doncaster is sustainable over the winter
period and beyond. The aim is to improve timeliness of access to ensure appropriate appointments
and care resulting in an improvement in patient outcomes and satisfaction with services.

Recommendations
The Board is asked to note the local and national work being undertaken in improving access for
patients and supporting general practice.

7

Page 13

This page is intentionally left blank

Our Plan for Improving Access for Patients and Supporting General Practice
Executive Summary
Members of the Health & Well Being Board will be aware that Doncaster (as with most
parts of the country) is experiencing high demand into our GP and Primary Care
services as we try to recovery safely from the Covid 19 Pandemic. As a Health and Care
system we have planned and responded to service demand through the Primary Care
Cell which is chaired by the CCG, and has clinical leadership from the GP Federation,
Primary Care Networks (PCN’s), the Local Authority and Local Medical Committee
(LMC). This has included responding to national guidance through the pandemic and
taking local solutions to try and respond to differing clinical demand. GP Practices have
introduced innovative and alternative ways of accessing primary care, including use of
digital solutions and appointments with multi professional staff.
Primary Care has also been instrumental in successfully implementing the Covid
vaccination programme and we have recently moved to the implementation of booster
jabs for people eligible within the Doncaster Borough. It is clear however that access to
primary care remains a genuine concern for some of our patients and public. We have
therefore worked with our PCNs to develop localised plans to assist some of our
struggling practices and develop tailored offers of support, ranging from increased
telephony and administration to infection prevention control guidance.
In October 2021 the national plan for Improving Access to Primary Care was
published and is enclosed in Appendix 2 of this paper. It focusses upon 3 main areas





Increase and optimise capacity
Address variation and encourage good practice
Zero tolerance of abuse and public communications

Each system was required to produce a Winter Access Fund Plan by 28 October
2021 to describe how the £250m Winter Access Fund would be utilised between
November 2021 to March 2022. Doncaster’s share of this funding is £1,384,000.
The Doncaster plan is attached in Appendix 1 which cross references the Integrated
Care System plan in order to support monitoring of impact. The Doncaster Plan has
been developed in consultation with PCNs, the Local Pharmaceutical Committee,
Primary Care Doncaster and the LMC.
The CCG will manage the implementation of the plan with partners, and will report
accordingly on progress and impact.

Anthony Fitzgerald
Director of Strategy & Delivery
NHS Doncaster CCG

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 17

OUR PLAN FOR IMPROVING ACCESS FOR PATIENTS AND SUPPORTING
GENERAL PRACTICE IN DONCASTER
Increase and Optimise Capacity


Infection Prevention and Control Guidance

Our nursing team will support practices to review their access arrangements following the revised IPC guidance published which
reduces physical distancing to 1m to ensure that mitigations are put in place to enable face to face consultations to take place and
walk in access to surgeries where feasible. No additional funding required



Increasing workforce capacity

SYB Workforce and Training Hubs has a number of recruitment and retention schemes already funded including GP Fellowships,
Nurse Fellowships, Physicians Associate Preceptorships and are developing further programmes including a Health Care Assistant
Training Programme for those new to practice, Aspiring Leaders programmes and cross sectoral shadowing.
An analysis of what is actually in place in Doncaster will take place with support from the Place Workforce lead and Primary Care
Doncaster Ltd to maximise the impact to support primary care in training, supervision and workforce resilience. No additional funding
required
All five PCNs submitted their workforce plans for Additional Roles by the end of August 2021 showing a planned increase from 64 to
102 Additional Roles across the range of roles available. The revised iterations of the plan are due in by end October 2021. We will
continue to work with the Federation and our PCNs to support the integration of these posts into primary care, to maximise their
potential. This work will be supported by a refresh of the Doncaster Estates Strategy which will support the development of PCN

1

Estates Strategies. A notional £500,000 has been identified (£100,000 for each PCN) to support the implementation of this strategy
this is not currently funded. WAF £500,000 (SY&B 171)
We also intend to provide further resource to expand the GP flexible pool in place across SYB and explore whether this can be
extended to other health care professionals. WAF £15,000. (SY&B4)
We intend to explore the feasibility of using a remote at scale locum service for practices requiring additional capacity. A remote
service costs in the region of £25 per 15 minute appointment. Depending on demand set aside an estimated WAF £120,000 (SY&B4)


Moving to cloud based telephony

We will work with NHS England to audit and benchmark all practice based telephone systems to ensure that they are fit for purpose,
a particular focus will be the provision of more phone lines for inbound and outbound calls with automated queuing and data about
patient demand in order that the balance of call handling to demand can be struck. We have identified that we will need funding to
supplement this audit and prioritise those practices most in need as well as to support the funding of new infrastructure, training and
kit £500,000 (SY&B 1 & SY&B 2)


Making Best Use of Community Pharmacy

Currently 4 practices in Doncaster are signed up to the Community Pharmacy Consultation Service which will help navigate patients
away from practice appointments into Community Pharmacy. There is an ask that all practices sign up to the service by 1 December
2021. In order for this to be achieved some dedicated Community Pharmacist Support is required. Based on models elsewhere we
estimate that a community pharmacist on the ground to support each practice site is required. The Hypertension Monitoring and
Discharge Medication Service can also be supported through the same resource. An estimated sum of £24,000 (based on £240 per
day 1.5 days minimum per site and ongoing support). The implementation lead will work with practices and community pharmacies
to support implementation and share best practice. However there is an NHS England offer and therefore the estimate included in
the ICS plan is £1,000 per PCN so for Doncaster £5,000 (SY&B 14)


Page 18

1

Supporting the COVID Vaccination Programme

References link back to SY&B submitted plan

2

Page 19

In order to ensure that the programme is not delivered to the detriment of core services the COVID Capacity Fund will be used to
continue to support the establishment of pop up clinics, roving teams and out of hours vaccination support staff. No additional
funding required (funded from the COVID Capacity Fund)


Reducing administrative burdens

The Primary Care Delivery Group and the System Partners Operational Group will continue to meet to address processes that
generate avoidable administrative burdens for general practice so that solutions can be implemented quickly and processes be put
in place, where necessary issues will be escalated via Contract meetings/FPIGs with the Trusts.
We will progress work to support PCNs to establish an admin hub in each network to take calls away from practice systems and/or
centralise key resources and functions. Learning from the COVID vaccination hub support which was set up very quickly will be
useful. 5 X System One Hubs £7,500
1 x EMIS hub £10,000
We will also undertake an equipment audit to support changes in how practices are operating £45,000.
The total for the development of hub capacity including management support and admin staff required is £162,500 (SY&B8 &11). As
work progresses on the development of specific PCN hubs some of this funding may be diverted to create capacity in Doncaster wide
priority areas such as a spirometry hub. Any development in this area will align with work on implementation of the Mexborough
Community Diagnostic hub should it diverge into respiratory diagnostics.
We also wish to continue to support our Care Navigation Teams by ensuring ongoing training and development is included to support
front door access to local practices and free up appointment capacity. Funding required £5,000 (SY&B7)


Digital Tools

In order to divert patients away from the phones we will seek to optimise the online tools that are available for patients to use to book
appointments, order repeat medications, and communicate with their practices. This will include using hybrid options (f2f, telephone,
online, video), AccuRx video, AccuRx Patient Triage - supporting implementation & utilisation and the NHS App including increasing
registrations and Doctorlink. We will continue to increase the numbers of direct booking appointments with 111..

3

We are working on robotic process automation and are in the position where we can automate three processes this financial year.
With our colleagues in Rotherham this will be expanded to six areas and the learning can be shared between us. No additional
funding required (SY&B13)


Extended Access Service

The extended access service will continue to provide additional capacity through the Health Bus, Same Day appointments service
and a new surge capacity solution commencing on 8th November that practices can book directly into Monday to Friday. No additional
funding required as funded through the contract with Primary Care Doncaster.(SY&B5)

Address Variation and Encourage Good Practice
There is limited trust in the data that has been provided to establish what good access looks like. It has been suggested that a local
solution to a data resource trusted and extracted directly from practice information systems would be preferable. Funding will be set
aside to support practice resilience and validation of the data including alignment of services to fit with optimal care models.
£67,000 (SY&B10,15,16)
We have already set in train our digital optimisation programme with existing core systems and tools. We want to work with PCNs
and practices to improve websites to enable patients to be signposted appropriately and have support from Redmoor Health to do
this piece of work. We also have plans to improve access to our Integrated Doncaster Care Record through a single sign on
process.(SY&B12)
Once the RCGP has developed its evidence base on hybrid access models and provided professional guidance practices will be
supported to work through the optimal blend of remote and face to face triage and care as appropriate. (SY&B16)
All practices will be asked to consider engaging with Time For Care where they have not already. Three PCNs have no practices
that have engaged with this support and therefore will be supported to do so. This is funded separately through the Access
Improvement Programme by NHSE/I.
Page 20

It has been agreed across the ICS that the identification of practices requiring additional support to enable resilience through the
winter should be a supportive exercise. We aim to use the funding available to us through practice resilience funds etc to allow
4

Page 21

practices the head space required and to engage with the wider primary care team in the support required whether this be through
Primary Care Doncaster, CCG primary care, digital, medicines management or quality teams, to review appointments or access
systems or discuss pressures/concerns. Where this requires input from the wider system stakeholders these will be channelled
accordingly. (SY&B10 &16)

Zero Tolerance of Abuse and Public Communications
We have launched our zero tolerance policy recently and as part of the dialogue with practices will review whether there are
additional security or premises improvement needs, or training/backfill support that can ensure our staff are safe in the work place.
Much of this plan requires behaviour change and we need to be realistic about how much that is going to achieve. We will need a
sustained public communications campaign to:






Promote our zero tolerance approach
To promote the digital offer
To advertise the services that are available and how patients may access them
To explain that general practice is about much more than the GP and promote other health professionals
Clarify what to expect when entering the GP practice – revised IPC rules etc

Cost estimated £10,000 (SY&B9)

5

Summary of Costs
Premises £500,000
Flexible Pool £15,000
Remote locum service £120,000
Telephony £500.000
Community Pharmacy £5,000
Hubs £162,500
Comms budget £10,000
Care Navigation £5,000
Practice ResIlience £67,000
TOTAL £1,384,500
ANTICIPATED ALLOCATION £1,384,000

Page 22

6

Classification: Official
Publication approval reference: BW999

Our plan for improving
access for patients and
supporting general practice
14 October 2021

Page 23

Contents

Introduction ...................................................................................... 3
The access challenges .................................................................... 3
Further actions................................................................................. 5
A. Increase and optimise capacity ................................................... 6
B. Address variation and encourage good practice........................ 12
C. Zero tolerance of abuse and public communications ................ 16

2 | Our plan for improving access for patients and supporting general practice

Page 24

Introduction
1.

General practice is the bedrock of the NHS. The NHS has always relied on its
resilience. Its importance and value have once again been demonstrated
during the pandemic response. Our GP surgeries, through primary care
networks (PCNs), have shouldered the lion’s share of the COVID-19
vaccination programme alongside their existing workload. This financial year,
they have also provided more appointments nationally for patients than in the
equivalent period before the pandemic. It may not appear so in surgery
waiting rooms, given social distancing requirements, but the vast majority of
general practice teams have never been busier.

2.

As with other parts of the NHS, most obviously ambulances and A&E
departments, current workload pressures in general practice are intense. We
are still coping with the additional demand and constraints of the pandemic.
We see the release of pent-up demand, accumulated during the pandemic
when people were less likely to consult their practice or seek specialist care.
And general practice has the critical job of catching up on the backlog of care
for patients on its registered list who have ongoing conditions, to avoid acute
episodes or exacerbations that may otherwise result in avoidable hospital
admissions or even premature mortality.

3.

Most practices provide accessible, high quality care. Taking England as a
whole, patient satisfaction with general practice at the beginning of the year
has held up remarkably well. Based on data from 850,000 patients, the
independent GP Patient Survey 2021 showed increases in: overall patient
satisfaction with general practice; patient satisfaction in being able to make an
appointment; and patient satisfaction with the appointment times offered. A
reversal of recent trends, these results are objective testimony to the
dedication and professionalism of the vast majority of GPs and their
multidisciplinary practice teams, including practice managers and
receptionists. They reflect how well the majority of practices have been able to
adapt and innovate during the pandemic, maintaining and improving access,
including using remote appointments. For many patients, remote
consultations can often be more convenient.

The access challenges
4.

At the same time, it is true that patients’ ability to access primary care is often
not as good as it should be. Some patients are experiencing unacceptably
poor access to general practice, including an inability to contact practices – as
witnessed by their stories and those reported in the media. Unwarranted

3 | Our plan for improving access for patients and supporting general practice

Page 25

variation in practice performance has always existed but Healthwatch and the
Care Quality Commission record rising number of concerns and complaints,
typically about appointment availability, waiting times, and in particular, the
ability to see a GP, and specifically face-to-face.
5.

We understand the frustration of patients who were not able to access
appropriate care when they needed it, but we are clear that is never an
excuse for abuse or violence against staff. The NHS has a zero-tolerance
approach to abuse and violence against its staff. There is no place for
aggression, abuse, incivility, or any acts of violence in our society. If a person
is violent, abusive or threatening to their GP or any general practice staff, they
can be permanently removed from the surgery. The NHS will continue to
support anyone affected by such incidents and work closely with the police
and the Crown Prosecution Service to bring offenders to justice. A campaign
will be developed, working with unions and professional bodies, to
communicate this clearly to the public.

6.

The wider context is that ensuring good access to general practice has been a
complex and challenging issue for many years: for example, getting through
to the practice on the phone, particularly first thing in the morning, and
sometimes long waits for more routine care. In large part, the access
challenge mirrors overall workforce capacity including the number of GPs,
which has increased much more slowly than the number of hospital doctors. A
series of measures are already being put in place to address this, including
through the 2019 five-year GP contract deal, boosted by the Government’s
manifesto commitments to improve general practice capacity by increasing
the size of the primary care workforce and delivering 50 million more
appointments.

7.

Widespread changes to the way that people accessed general practice
services during the pandemic have been overlaid on these longstanding
access challenges. The response to COVID-19 last spring saw an impressive
almost overnight adoption of remote consultations and triage-first pathways to
ensure care could continue during the first wave of the pandemic. Many of
these changes offer long-term benefits for patients and practices. Even before
the pandemic, thousands of patients were being assessed effectively and
safely in general practice every day via remote consultations, whether over
the telephone or online. For many this was the best option for them, so they
did not have to take time out of their day to attend the surgery, while others
preferred a face-to-face consultation in person. Online triage models will
continue to improve and become easier for patients to navigate. Patients’
input into this choice should be sought and practices should respect
preferences for face-to- face care unless there are good clinical reasons to
the contrary.

4 | Our plan for improving access for patients and supporting general practice

Page 26

8.

Having exited the emergency phase of the pandemic, all practices are
currently grappling with the emergent challenge of working out the optimal
blend of face-to-face appointments alongside remote appointments, wherever
these are clinically warranted, taking account of patient preferences. There
are limited evidence-based professional standards or guidance to help show
what constitutes good practice or what is likely to be an unacceptable
standard of care. Practices are working out the answers for themselves and
their patients. Many are doing so brilliantly – often with much improved
satisfaction – and not through a simplistic reversion back to pre-pandemic
ways of working. Equally, other practices are still on a journey to that new
optimal balance. However, a minority of practices are now offering wholly
inappropriate access, with very low levels of face-to-face care. In August 2021
over 15% of practices recorded less than 20% of their GP appointments being
held face to face. That is likely to be contrary to good clinical practice, even if
it were to reflect the preferences of their patients.

9.

For patients, a further change in their experience of access arises from the
long overdue transformation of the general practice clinical workforce. In our
hospitals, the consultant leads a multidisciplinary team of different
professionals. That model is rightly becoming the new norm in general
practice, with the GP expert generalist supported by a much wider array of
clinical professionals. On top of all our critical work to increase the numbers of
GPs, we have already recruited over 10,000 of an additional 26,000 staff who
will be working in general practice by the end of 2023/24. Patients can
increasingly expect to be able to see different types of healthcare
professionals in general practice, who are more expert or appropriate in
dealing their particular needs and conditions, including over 3,000
pharmacists already in place, paramedics and advanced nurse practitioners.
We need to do more to ensure patients are aware of the range of skills and
expertise available through primary care, alongside GPs specifically.

Further actions
10.

The NHS is gearing up to a very challenging winter, with access to general
practice an essential part of winter plans. This short guide, supported by
Government, describes a number of further actions (below) that will now be
taken by the NHS, Government and partner organisations, to support general
practice and improve access including face-to-face appointments with GPs.
They include steps to (a) increase and optimise capacity; (b) address variation
and encourage good practice; and (c) improve communication with the public,
including tackling abuse and violence against NHS staff.

5 | Our plan for improving access for patients and supporting general practice

Page 27

A. Increase and optimise
capacity
Forthcoming IPC guidance

11.

NHS England understand that UKHSA is recommending a more flexible
approach to patient consultations in primary care and general practice after
reviewing the current infection prevention and control guidance on patient
consultations in primary care. These will be published on the Agency’s
website.
Additional capacity funding for systems

12.

During the first half of the financial year, an additional £120m was made
available to general practice to expand capacity via local commissioners. The
amount tapered to £10m for September. A further £10m of continued funding
will be distributed in the same way in October 2021.

13.

For the five months November to March, a new £250m Winter Access Fund
will help patients with urgent care needs to get seen when they need to, on
the same day, taking account of their preferences, instead of going to
hospital.

14.

The two main uses of the Fund will be:
(i)

to drive improved access to urgent, same day primary care, ideally
from patients’ own general practice service, by increasing capacity and
GP appointment numbers achieved at practice or PCN level, or in
combination. This could be, for example, by funding more sessions
from existing staff, or making full use of the digital locum pool
framework, reimbursable at maximum rates set out in the existing
guidance. The fund could also be used for expanding extended hours
capacity, including for example any contingency planning for bank
holiday working. It could be used for extra administrative staff, eg at
PCN, federation or practice level, where commissioners agree that is
necessary, and agree that the solution planned is the optimal delivery
model. The fund could also be used to employ other physicians such
as retired geriatricians who are unable to work as GPs because they
are not permitted to join the GP Performers List

6 | Our plan for improving access for patients and supporting general practice

Page 28

(ii)

to increase the resilience of the NHS urgent care system during winter,
by expanding same day urgent care capacity, through other services in
any primary and community settings. In the Urgent and Emergency
Care Recovery 10 Point Action Plan, systems have already been
asked to review capacity and demand across their portfolio of type 3
and 4 services, including those temporarily closed during COVID and
to ensure available capacity and capability of urgent treatment centres
(UTC) is matched to demand. UTC capacity could be expanded as an
alternative to patients’ own general practice service. Systems may wish
to use primary care hubs including respiratory hubs (to manage
increased cases of RSV, for example), or 111 Clinical Assessment
Services (CAS) capacity where general practice is unable to expand,
beyond the significant further expansion of 111 already planned. The
CAS should continue to be able to transfer patients to their own
practice as required for continuity of care. The NHS has invested an
extra £23m into NHS 111 during August and September to help meet
the increased demand in both call handling and clinical assessment
services and a further £75m of funding has been allocated within the
H2 planning guidance.

15.

It will be for local systems to determine the optimal use of the funding in line
with local issues and solutions, national expectations and requirements. Local
commissioners will be able to set their own local conditions, working with local
partners. It is not designed as a ‘pass-through’ payment to individual
practices.

16.

The amount deployed will depend on local systems being able to demonstrate
value including quantification of the scale of increased capacity and expected
impact. A maximum indicative amount will be calculated on the CCG primary
care weighted capitation formula, which takes account of inequalities. Funding
up to this indicative ceiling will be released in early November to lead CCGs
within ICSs, following plan submission and then NHS England approval. Local
systems should continue to make decisions now, within existing resources to
increase same day urgent capacity. A partway checkpoint will apply; funding
could be reduced or discontinued if demonstrable progress has not been
made by mid-December. All systems must develop and submit a plan, by
Thursday 28 October, assured by the ICS board, in line with a simple
standard template. PCN clinical directors must be involved in developing the
plan. The focus on improving access should form part of the dialogue that
CCGs normally have with their Local Medical Committees (LMC).

7 | Our plan for improving access for patients and supporting general practice

Page 29

Expanding numbers of GPs and other primary care professionals

17.

NHS England and NHS Improvement is working with systems to
strengthen their existing plans to increase numbers of GPs towards the
6,000 Government manifesto commitment. A record 3,793 GP specialty
training places were filled in the first recruitment round this year, and the
ambition is to get to 4,000 in the second round. The latest comparable data
(June 2021 compared to June 2019) showed that there were now over 1,200
more full-time equivalent (FTE) GPs than two years before, with a headcount
increase of almost 2,500. But much more still needs to be done. We are
expecting all parts of the country to have established a digital locum bank
model or equivalent by December and the Winter Access Fund can support
optimal use. GP expansion plans, already being finalised by every system, will
need to include significantly increased uptake in the use of GP recruitment
and retention initiatives including the GP fellowship scheme, the mentorship
scheme and the new to partnership payment. With assistance from BMA
GPC, RCGP and HEE, NHS England will work to communicate these
schemes widely and effectively, and examine further steps that may be
required, including by setting up a new national advisory group.

18.

The Government’s manifesto commits to expanding the number of other
primary care professionals by 26,000. This is essential to expanding general
practice capacity and bringing a wider range of skills to the primary care team,
enabling GPs to focus on what only GPs can do. PCNs have flexibility to
employ any of 15 different roles and are successfully employing over 10,000
extra staff already. The NHS planning guidance issued on 30 September
confirmed that systems are required to achieve their share of the 15,500
target by March 2022, putting in place additional support wherever
necessary for their PCNs to help with recruitment, developing rotational roles
with other services, eg ambulance trusts, or joint roles eg with mental health
trusts. We will also be supporting PCNs to make the best use of as many new
nursing associate and trainee nursing associate roles as possible through the
scheme as part of further strengthening and securing the future of practice
nursing. Maximum reimbursable rates for 2021/22 have been uplifted to
include the Agenda for Change 3% pay uplift. Pharmacists joining PCNs will
automatically be trained to prescribe, lifting workload from GPs; and we
continue to increase the role of community pharmacists in delivering
appropriate clinical services.
Moving to cloud-based practice telephony

19.

During the emergency response to the pandemic and subsequent recovery,
practices continue to face an unprecedented increase in demand across all
digital and communication channels, including telephony. With increasing

8 | Our plan for improving access for patients and supporting general practice

Page 30

volumes of telephone contacts there has been a significant strain on older
analogue technology. For patients and reception staff alike, this can be a
source of huge frustration.
20.

An estimated one-quarter of practices have already moved to cloud-based
telephony. As well as providing more phone lines for inbound and outbound
calls, and automated queuing, cloud-based systems can provide data about
patient demand to help give feedback about current performance and inform
practices about the level of administrative support they need for call-handling.

21.

NHS England will enable and drive full adoption of cloud-based
telephony across all practices, as rapidly as possible. This could include
– subject to value for money – a short-term national solution available
for all practices to deploy by the end of the year. This would precede a
longer-term supplier framework, to support local deployment of cloud-based
products as existing local contracts expire.
Making best use of community pharmacy

22.

Use of the Community Pharmacist Consultation Service (CPCS) can help
alleviate pressure on GP appointments by harnessing the skills and
knowledge of community pharmacists to treat a range of minor
illnesses. Using the service gives a patient a same-day appointment in a
community pharmacy and helps improve patient experience, as well as
directing demand to the most appropriate setting. 800 practices are already
signed up to provide the service. NHS England is providing support through a
nationally procured resource that will help practices use the new service. All
practices are encouraged to sign up by 1 December 2021. The PCN
Investment and Impact Fund provides an incentive for PCNs to develop plans
to implement CPCS or increase their current referral rate. Participation is also
a condition of a practice being able to benefit from the Winter Access Fund.

23.

We are already piloting the supply of contraception by community
pharmacies. NHS England will work with DHSC to consider how far and fast
we can expand the role of our pharmacists in the supply of medication, as part
of relieving workload on GPs.
Optimising involvement in the COVID vaccination campaign

24.

Participation by a practice in the COVID-19 vaccination programme can
never be at the expense of providing reasonable patient access to core
GP services. This was a condition of sign up to take part in phase 3 of the
COVID-19 vaccination programme. Where access to primary medical services
is challenged, for example where levels of face-to-face appointments with
GPs in the practice are inappropriately low, commissioners must put in place

9 | Our plan for improving access for patients and supporting general practice

Page 31

immediate solutions to resolve the position, including considering alternative
provision for vaccination of the affected population, most likely through
community pharmacy.
Reducing administrative burdens

25.

In February 2020 DHSC and NHS England jointly committed to reducing
bureaucracy on general practice with a particular focus on the burdens
placed by medical evidence and certificates, such as fit notes and DVLA
checks. The isolation note was introduced in March 2020 and acted as a form
of evidence to support self-isolation, protecting GP services from a surge in
demand for fit notes for COVID-19 absences. In July 2021, the government
set out plans to deliver digital transformation of the fit note including removing
the requirement to sign in ink (from April 2022, sooner if possible) and
committing to amending regulations to allow a wider range of eligible
professionals to sign fit notes at the earliest opportunity. Plans to embed
electronic fit notes in hospital systems planned from spring 2022 and
encouraging hospital doctors to issue fit notes to patients in their care will also
further reduce the burden on GPs.

26.

Changes have also been made to DVLA certification. In February this
year, a simplified process to renew licences for those with epilepsy and
multiple sclerosis was introduced allowing patients to self-declare when there
has been stability in their condition with no follow-up with their GP required.
DHSC is working in partnership the DVLA to expand these changes to other
conditions and are looking at opportunities to increase the range of medical
professionals that are able to provide DVLA with information.

27.

Based on feedback, annual GP appraisals were refocused in October 2020
to support professional development and wellbeing better, with simplified
information requirements to free up time for the GP and GP appraiser alike.
This less burdensome system continues in 2021.

28.

As part of the 2021/22 NHS standard contract, secondary care providers
must assess and address certain processes1 that generate avoidable
administrative burdens for GPs. Information Standards Notices will be
published later this year to improve the way transfer of care information and
data is shared by secondary care to primary care, removing the need to send
email attachments or paper letters requiring manual processing. In addition,
NHS England has emphasised that local system plans should hold providers
to account for eliminating any unnecessary redirection of activity to general
practice from other providers where this could reasonably be arranged directly

10 | Our plan for improving access for patients and supporting general practice

Page 32

by that provider, for example phlebotomy, organising investigations and, in
particular, prescribing of medications.
Re-phasing PCN service specifications and the extended access transfer

29.

In August 2021 NHS England confirmed that it would re-phase the
introduction of new PCN service specifications from October 2021 to no
later than April 2022, aside from hypertension detection in the community,
working in tandem with community pharmacies; and tackling health
inequalities. QOF income protection ended in April, given the importance of
the work that QOF incentivises, evidence of its effectiveness set out in the
recent QOF review2, and the reduction in QOF performance during 2020/21.
We are not intending to reopen previously agreed QOF arrangements and
repurpose QOF funding to improve access, for example by substituting new
practice-level access metrics such as proportion of face-to-face appointments.

30.

To support core general practice capacity and avoid disruption to
existing service provision over the winter period, the planned transfer of
current CCG-commissioned extended access services to PCNs will now
be postponed until October 2022. This will defer the preparatory work PCNs
will need to do before the transfer and therefore prevent diversion of resource
away from clinical capacity over the upcoming winter period. The transfer of
funding and associated nationally consistent service requirements will now
take place in October 2022. Commissioners should ensure that they make the
necessary arrangements to extend existing services. This also allows more
time for PCNs to explore how best to unlock synergies with in-hours services
at practice level, as well as consider the option of collaborative working at
larger scale than individual PCN footprints. Where a PCN can demonstrate its
readiness, commissioners are encouraged to make local arrangements for a
transition of services and funding to PCNs before October 2022.
Redirecting capacity from locally commissioned services

31.

2

Local systems should review again whether any capacity funded through
locally commissioned enhanced services can be redeployed with immediate
effect to support urgent same-day access. Services that help tackle avoidable
emergency admissions should be maintained.

NHS England » Report of the Review of the Quality and Outcomes Framework in England

11 | Our plan for improving access for patients and supporting general practice

Page 33

B. Address variation and
encourage good practice
Practice-level review of levels of face-to-face care

32.

Practices have already been reviewing if they have got the balance for
patients right between remote and face-to-face consultations, as well working
to improve the quality of their data reporting. We expect all practices to
have completed such an exercise by the end of October, as part of
ongoing reflection on professional practice and surgery management
arrangements rather than as a reporting exercise.
Developing the evidence base on hybrid access models and providing
professional guidance

33.

The Royal College of GPs has a vital role in promoting excellence in primary
healthcare and advocating professional standards. To assist practices in
working through what is the new optimal blend of remote and face to
face triage and care, NHS England and DHSC have asked RCGP to
consider providing a further update to its guidance to practices by the
end of November, including their advice on how practices can ensure they
are providing the appropriate proportion of in-person GP appointments for
their registered population, that is both clinically warranted and takes account
of patient preferences.

34.

NHSE will now also commission an additional QOF improvement
module, focused on optimal models of access including triage and
appointment type. Additionally, NHSE England will work with research
partners such as NIHR with the aim of securing a ‘big data’ analysis of the
impacts of remote versus face-to-face consultations and understanding the
role of continuity of care at the core of the GP-patient relationship.
Incentivising improvements in patient experience

35.

A new real-time measure of patient reported satisfaction with general
practice access is to be rolled out nationally and incentivised as early as
April 2022. Patients will automatically receive a message following their
appointment and asked a series of questions about how they rate their access
to care.

36.

As part of plans for PCNs, individual practices will be incentivised under
the Investment and Impact Fund (IIF) to improve their rates of

12 | Our plan for improving access for patients and supporting general practice

Page 34

satisfaction for 2022/23. The scale of the incentives will be increased
significantly in 2023/24 within the planned GP contract envelope.
Data transparency

37.

In August 2020, NHS England, together with the BMA issued guidance to
ensure all GP appointments are being recorded appropriately and to fully
capture the scale of work and workload in general practice. A new
standardised set of GP appointment categories was also introduced in March
2021. Practices are expected to ensure that data is captured accurately and in
a timely manner to enable much more timely reporting on activity, capacity
and waiting times. This more accurate GP appointment data will better show
the scale of what general practice does for us all, as well as highlighting
potential areas for improvement. To facilitate self-assessment and local
conversations about the access offer, we understand that NHS Digital is
working to publish activity and waiting time data at individual practice
level as soon as possible. This will include the proportions of appointment
by different professions and by different appointment modality. As the new
data comes on stream, patient reported satisfaction levels will also be
published.

38.

As part of wider work on NHS data transparency overall, NHS England and
NHS Digital will then consider how best to create a simple visual tool –
learning from the UK Coronavirus Dashboard – to allow anyone to understand
different aspects of general practice performance.
Expanding the Access Improvement Programme

39.

NHS England and NHS Improvement have established a new Access
Improvement Programme (AIP) delivered by the existing Time for Care team
which is working with over 900 practices to reduce waiting times, optimise
workflow and improve patient experience, and in so doing, improve the
working lives of practice teams.

40.

Starting this month, a new intensive form of the programme will support
more than a further 200 practices experiencing the greatest access
challenges to help them reduce waits, increase the number of appointments
offered each day, including through face-to-face care. The AIP will use
interventions that have shown most impact and do so in a more intensive and
accelerated format. On-site support will be provided by primary care
improvement experts. They will help practices assess demand and capacity,
identify gaps with the service level and responsiveness sought by patients.
This will lead to a tailored practice improvement plan which will include

13 | Our plan for improving access for patients and supporting general practice

Page 35

making appropriate use of digital tools, ensuring sufficient face to face care,
and best use of the multidisciplinary team.
41.

The pace and scale of further roll-out will be determined in 2022, learning
from the initial impact of what works.
Tackling unacceptable variation

42.

All ICSs should start an immediate exercise to look at the following data
and intelligence on their individual practices:
(i)

any practice with overall appointment numbers lower (excluding
COVID-19 vaccinations) than in the equivalent pre-pandemic months

(ii)

the 20% of practices locally with the lowest level of face-to-face GP
appointments – as opposed to whole practice, including appointments
with other staff

(iii)

the 20% of practices with the most significant level of 111 calls from
their patients during GP hours

(iv)

the 20% of practices with the most significant rate of A&E attendances
compared to what would be expected

(v)

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) will provide NHS England and
NHS Improvement with data relating to the volume of feedback they
have received at a regional and practice level; this includes concerns,
complaints, whistleblowing allegations and feedback received through
their ‘Give Feedback on Care’ process.
o local Healthwatch intelligence; and
o local CCG and LMC intelligence.

43.

Following rapid local consideration, each ICS should finalise an initial
list of practices, unlikely to be more than 20% of all local practices,
where it will be taking immediate further steps to support improved
access. The initial list should take account of the need to address healthcare
inequalities and be submitted as part of the plan for action described in
paragraph 16 for regional assurance by close on Thursday 28 October.

44.

CQC will work with NHS England to support systems in this process and
to make the required improvements across those practices which are not
meeting people’s reasonable needs. CQC is rapidly developing an inspection

14 | Our plan for improving access for patients and supporting general practice

Page 36

methodology with a particular focus on access to GP services. Wherever
appropriate, it will make unannounced inspections.
45.

A wide variety of actions are likely to be required to resolve the issues:
for example, to increase resilience, smaller practices offering unacceptable
access may be expected to partner with other practices, federations or PCNs,
as an alternative to the application of contract sanctions and enforcement.
Where practices do not engage with support and are in breach of their
contractual obligation to meet the reasonable needs of their registered
patients, appropriate contractual action will need to be undertaken by
CCGs/ICS.

46.

This work on tackling variation is a national requirement of any system
securing funding from the Winter Access Fund described in paragraphs
12-16. Each draft plan submitted must include two parts: (a) how the funding
will be used and expected benefits; and (b) the actions planned to increase
access for patients in the agreed list of practices who are struggling the most
– including actions with struggling practices that do not involve additional
funding. National funding will not be released to any ICS unless its plan
adequately tackles part (b) as well as part (a).

47.

Taken as a whole, the draft submission from systems for the Winter Access
Fund must aim to:
(i)

ensure all practices achieve at least pre-pandemic activity levels
for the equivalent period (excluding COVID-19 vaccinations).
Systems will be required to report total appointments delivered in nonpractice settings (eg UTCs) over each month of Nov-March clarifying
baseline, additional capacity and proportion of face-to-face care

(ii)

increase overall appointment volumes in general practice and
ensure appointment levels reflect the full deployment of ARRS
staff. Plans for spend should include quantification of likely capacity in
FTE, and approximate appointment capacity. Practices who are not
achieving pre-pandemic appointment levels by November will not be
able to access the Winter Access Fund but should access further
support as set out above

(iii)

increase the proportion of face-to-face appointments with GPs in
the system, with a particular focus on those practices with levels that
are a cause for clinical concern. System plans must provide for an
appropriate overall proportion of face-to-face capacity as part of the
additional capacity bought (ie if boosting remote capacity, this must be
paired with other solutions). Any practice exhibiting levels of face-to-

15 | Our plan for improving access for patients and supporting general practice

Page 37

face care judged to be of clinical concern will not be able to access the
fund but should access further support as set out above
(iv)

minimise 111 calls in-hours and avoidable A&E attendance that
could otherwise be seen in general practice. 60% of 111
dispositions are for primary care. We also expect to see fuller use of
111 routing calls to general practice

(v)

support all practices, by December, to sign up to and make full
use of general practice referrals to the community pharmacy
consultation service for minor illnesses to divert demand and
improve patient experience. Access to the fund by a particular practice
is contingent on sign-up to the GP Community Pharmacist Consultation
Service (GP CPCS).

48.

Systems will be required to produce a fortnightly update report for their
region. This should be linked to existing UEC/winter pressures reporting, as
an additional adjunct, and take account of the reporting burden on practices
and PCNs.

49.

Systems will need to take immediate action to prioritise and support this
work on improving access.

C. Zero tolerance of abuse
and public communications
50.

NHS England will work with the BMA GPC, the RCGP and patient groups
such as Healthwatch and National Voices to develop communications
tools that can help people to understand how they can access the care
they need, in general practice. This will need to incorporate the anticipated
changes and developments outlined above.

51.

While the majority of patients receive high quality convenient care from their
GP teams, we understand the frustration of patients who were not able to
access appropriate care when they needed it. That is never an excuse for
abuse or violence, which is too common in many NHS settings including in
A&E departments and against ambulance staff. General practice staff are
dedicated to delivering care for patients, and have the right to work free from
fear of assault or abuse in a safe and secure environment.

16 | Our plan for improving access for patients and supporting general practice

Page 38

52.

NHS England will immediately establish a £5m fund to facilitate essential
upgrades to practice security measures, distributed via NHS regional teams.

53.

The Government and NHS England will work with the trade unions and
the Academy of Medical Royal Colleges to launch a zero-tolerance
campaign on abuse of NHS staff.

54.

NHS England and Government will not tolerate abuse or violence directed at
NHS staff. We are taking action to protect and support staff through the NHS
Violence Reduction Programme and the NHS continues to work closely with
the police and the Crown Prosecution Service to bring offenders to justice.
The government is now legislating for the maximum prison sentence for
common assault to be doubled to two years if the victim is an NHS worker,
through the Police, Crime, Sentencing and Courts Bill 2021.

17 | Our plan for improving access for patients and supporting general practice

Page 39

NHS England and NHS Improvement
Skipton House
80 London Road
London
SE1 6LH
This publication can be made available in a number of other formats on request.

© NHS England and NHS Improvement 2021
Publication approval reference: BW999

18 | Our plan for improving access for patients and supporting general practice

Page 40

Agenda Item 9
Doncaster
Health and Wellbeing Board
Date: 11th November 2021
Subject: CYP Mental Health Update: What does the data tell us? What do our young
people want?
Presented by: Lee Golze and Andrea Ibbeson
Purpose of bringing this report to the Board
Decision
Recommendation to Full Council
Endorsement

X

Information

X

Implications

Applicable Yes/No

DHWB Strategy Areas of Focus

Substance Misuse (Drugs and Alcohol)

No

Mental Health

Yes

Dementia

No

Obesity

No

Children and Families

Yes

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
Finance
Legal

No
No
No

Equalities

Yes

Other Implications (please list)

How will this contribute to improving health and wellbeing in Doncaster?
The purpose of this presentation is to set the scene for the forthcoming new Children and Young
People’s Mental Health and wellbeing Strategy that will be brought to the Health and Wellbeing Board
in the New Year.
It captures where the partnership is currently in terms of mapping out services and the systems flow,
acknowledging that there is still more to do. It also outlines the work done by the Young Advisors in
liaising with children and young people about what the future vision and ambitions will be and what the
next steps are.
Appendices issued with this cover note which will be referenced in the presentation:


Appendix One: CYP Mental Health Baseline Data Set

Page 41



Appendix Two: Young Advisors Mental Health Vision Setting Presentation

Recommendations
The Board is asked to:




Note the information presented and agree to the new strategy being presented in the New
Year.
Agree the Vision and Ambitions developed by the Young Advisors.
Consider what improvements could be made to the way that data and information is collected,
recorded and shared to develop more efficient working practices.

Page 42

Page 43

Activity Baselines for Childrens' services

Emergency CAMHS
Referrals (RDASH)
% seen within
target (2 hours)
Urgent CAMHS
Referral (RDASH)
% seen within
target (24 hours)

Apr-19

May-19

Jun-19

Jul-19

Aug-19

Sep-19

Oct-19

Nov-19

Dec-19

Jan-20

Feb-20

Mar-20

Apr-20

May-20

Jun-20

Jul-20

Aug-20

Sep-20

Oct-20

Nov-20

Dec-20

Jan-21

Feb-21

Mar-21

Apr-21

May-21

Jun-21

Jul-21

Aug-21

4

0

1

1

0

1

1

0

2

0

0

0

1

1

2

0

0

0

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

0

0

0

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

5

7

4

1

2

17

15

12

8

6

6

17

4

3

2

6

3

1

3

3

3

2

5

4

8

6

8

5

16

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

83.30%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

28

28

29

47

25

34

26

32

20

17

10

7

11

12

13

11

41

26

24

30

44

42

24

20

15

16

92.90%

96.40%

93.10%

100%

100%

100%

100%

96.90%

95.00%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

97.70%

97.60%

100%

100%

100%

100%

3

7

2

4

5

4

11

6

3

5

2

6

7

1

9

8

13

18

9

9

14

17

13

10

12

7

24

24

22

18

18

16

21

25

23

26

25

27

26

27

32

32

36

39

51

52

60

68

71

66

63

61

56

46

43

40

57

57

55

61

75

79

75

73

73

73

76

85

93

93

91

95

101

127

127

128

127

129

Non-Urgent CAMHS
Referral (RDASH)
37
35
37
% seen within
target (8 weeks)
97.30%
97.10%
94.60%
Eating disorder
referrals
2
1
2
Eating disorder
caseload
29
29
26
ADHD - Children
waiting for
assessment
N/A
N/A
N/A
LAC - 0-4 requiring
review

6

17

4

12

5

5

11

11

13

9

6

6

9

9

4

20

8

9

5

5

9

9

7

9

11

3

14

14

13

LAC - 5-18 requiring
review

18

21

20

20

19

18

22

18

8

37

14

19

21

27

17

27

25

19

20

13

16

21

17

21

20

27

14

30

10

42%

40%

50%

47%

45%

47%

46%

47%

47%

46%

46%

44%

43%

43%

42%

42%

42%

43%

41%

40%

38%

40%

41%

42%

41%

41%

42%

41%

% of LAC for 12
months or more
with Strengths and
Difficulties
Questionnaire
(SDQ) Score Above
17

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

Average SDQ Score
(Doncaster)

15.30

14.90

15.30

14.90

15.60

15.30

Average SDQ Score
(England)

13.90

14.00

14.10

12.20

14.20

14.10

Average SDQ Score
(Y&H)

14.40

14.20

14.70

14.90

14.20

14.50

School pupils with
social, emotional
and mental health
needs: % of pupils
with social,
emotional and
mental health
needs (School age)

1.61%

1.75%

1.92%

2.24%

2.47%

2.61%

England average

2.00%

2.34%

2.33%

2.39%

2.52%

2.70%

School pupils with
social, emotional
and mental health
needs: % of pupils
with social,
emotional and
mental health
needs (Primary
school age)

1.91%

2.07%

2.34%

2.60%

2.72%

England average

2.08%

2.12%

2.19%

2.31%

2.45%

School pupils with
social, emotional
and mental health
needs: % of pupils
with social,
emotional and
mental health
needs (Secondary
school age)

1.43%

1.66%

2.06%

2.25%

2.42%

England average

2.36%

2.27%

2.31%

2.44%

2.67%

Page 44

Page 45

2014-2015

2015-2016

2016-2017

2017-2018

2018-2019

2019-2020

Number of children
looked after for at
least 12 months
aged 5 to 16

278

298

292

287

297

295

Number of children
looked after for at
least 12 months
aged 5 to 16 with
an SDQ score

233

239

268

265

276

273

Percentage of
children for whom
an SDQ score was
submitted

84%

80%

92%

92%

93%

93%

Average score per
child

15

15

15

15

16

15

Banded SDQ Score:
Normal

105

100

111

119

111

113

Banded SDQ Score:
Borderline

31

32

29

28

31

43

Banded SDQ Score:
Concern

97

107

128

118

134

117

% Banded SDQ
Score: Normal
(Doncaster)

45.00%

42.00%

41.00%

45.00%

40.00%

41.00%

% Banded SDQ
Score: Normal
(England)

50.00%

51.00%

49.00%

47.00%

47.00%

48.00%

% Banded SDQ
Score: Borderline
(Doncaster)

13.00%

13.00%

11.00%

11.00%

11.00%

16.00%

% Banded SDQ
Score: Borderline
(England)

12.00%

13.00%

14.00%

13.00%

13.00%

12.00%

% Banded SDQ
Score: Concern
(Doncaster)

42.00%

45.00%

48.00%

45.00%

49.00%

43.00%

% Banded SDQ
Score: Concern
(England)

38.00%

37.00%

38.00%

40.00%

41.00%

39.00%

% seen within target (2 hours)

Emergency CAMHS Referrals (RDASH)
5

100%

4

80%

3

60%

2

40%

1

20%

0

0%

% seen within target (24 hours)

Urgent CAMHS Referral (RDASH)
100%

20

80%

15

60%
10

Eating Disorder demand
120
100
80
60
40
20
0
Eating disorder caseload

LAC - 0-4 requiring review
25

LAC - 5-18 requiring review
40
35

20
15

30
25
20

10

15
10

5
0

Nov-20

Dec-20

Jan-21

Feb-21

Mar-21

Apr-21

May-21

Jun-21

Jul-21

Aug-21

Nov-20

Dec-20

Jan-21

Feb-21

Mar-21

Apr-21

May-21

Jun-21

Jul-21

Aug-21

Oct-20

Sep-20

Aug-20

Jul-20

Jun-20

May-20

ADHD - Children waiting for assessment
140

Eating disorder referrals

Oct-20

Sep-20

Aug-20

Jul-20

Jun-20

May-20

Mar-20

Feb-20

Apr-20
Apr-20

0%

Mar-20

0

Feb-20

20%

Dec-19

10

Nov-19

40%

Oct-19

20

Sep-19

60%

Aug-19

30

Jul-19

80%

Jun-19

40

May-19

100%

Apr-19

50

Jan-20

% seen within target (8 weeks)

Non-Urgent CAMHS Referral (RDASH)

80
70
60
50
40
30
20
10
0

Jan-20

Dec-19

Nov-19

Oct-19

Sep-19

Aug-19

Jul-19

0%

Jun-19

0

Apr-19

20%
May-19

40%

5

5
0

Page 46

Page 47

% of LAC for 12 months or more with Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) Score
Above 17

Average SDQ Scores
18.00
16.00

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

14.00
12.00
10.00
8.00
6.00
4.00
2.00
0.00
2015

2016

2017

Average SDQ Score (Doncaster)

SEMH Needs (all schools)

2018

Average SDQ Score (England)

2019

2020

Average SDQ Score (Y&H)

SEMH Needs (Primary school)

3.00%

3.00%

2.50%

2.50%
2.00%

2.00%

1.50%
1.50%

1.00%

1.00%

0.50%

0.50%

0.00%
2015

0.00%
2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

School pupils with social, emotional and mental health needs: % of pupils with social, emotional and mental health needs (School age)

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

School pupils with social, emotional and mental health needs: % of pupils with social, emotional and mental health needs (Primary
school age)

2020
England average

England average

SEMH Needs (Secondary school)

Percentage of children for whom an SDQ score was submitted

3.00%

95%

2.50%
90%

2.00%

1.50%

85%

1.00%
80%

0.50%
0.00%
2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

School pupils with social, emotional and mental health needs: % of pupils with social, emotional and mental health needs (Secondary school age)
England average

75%

70%
2014-2015

2015-2016

2016-2017

2017-2018

2018-2019

2019-2020

SDQ Score Bands

SQC % - Normal

160
140

60.00%

120

50.00%

100

40.00%

80

30.00%

60

20.00%

40

10.00%

20
0

0.00%
2014-2015

2015-2016
Banded SDQ Score: Normal

2016-2017

2017-2018

Banded SDQ Score: Borderline

2018-2019

2019-2020

2014-2015

Banded SDQ Score: Concern

2015-2016

2016-2017

% Banded SDQ Score: Normal (Doncaster)

SDQ % - Borderline

2017-2018

2018-2019

2019-2020

% Banded SDQ Score: Normal (England)

SDQ % - Concern

18.00%

60.00%

16.00%

50.00%

14.00%
12.00%

40.00%

10.00%

30.00%

8.00%
6.00%

20.00%

4.00%

10.00%

2.00%
0.00%

0.00%
2014-2015

2015-2016

2016-2017

% Banded SDQ Score: Borderline (Doncaster)

2017-2018

2018-2019

% Banded SDQ Score: Borderline (England)

2019-2020

2014-2015

2015-2016

2016-2017

% Banded SDQ Score: Concern (Doncaster)

2017-2018

2018-2019

% Banded SDQ Score: Concern (England)

2019-2020

Page 48

Page 49

Early Help Enquires by Presenting Need
EH Enquiries
% of Enquiries with Child MH as a
Presenting Issue
Data by Localities
Central
East
North
South

% of Enquiries with Parental MH as
a Presenting Issue

Apr-19
551

May-19
525

Jun-19
515

Jul-19
489

Aug-19
433

Sep-19
668

Oct-19
654

Nov-19
628

Dec-19
474

Jan-20
691

Feb-20
663

Mar-20
772

Apr-20
491

May-20
525

Jun-20
655

Jul-20
448

Aug-20
384

Sep-20
461

Oct-20
418

Nov-20
398

Dec-20
340

Jan-21
251

Feb-21
303

Mar-21
471

Apr-21
357

May-21
410

Jun-21
474

Jul-21
444

11.3%

12.2%

19.2%

12.1%

6.7%

8.1%

15.0%

15.6%

11.6%

8.1%

7.7%

11.1%

11.4%

14.1%

9.3%

15.2%

8.3%

5.4%

9.1%

9.8%

10.3%

12.4%

7.9%

13.2%

14.3%

18.0%

17.9%

14.6%

13.7%
7.6%
11.5%
12.6%
Apr-19

11.8%
17.3%
12.1%
8.0%
May-19

19.7%
21.8%
19.4%
17.6%
Jun-19

6.7%
18.2%
13.9%
12.5%
Jul-19

9.4%
4.7%
9.5%
2.7%
Aug-19

8.5%
6.8%
9.8%
7.5%
Sep-19

17.5%
16.0%
16.9%
8.9%
Oct-19

23.0%
17.5%
14.5%
8.9%
Nov-19

5.4%
12.2%
13.9%
12.6%
Dec-19

12.4%
5.6%
10.1%
9.0%
Jan-20

7.9%
15.5%
4.2%
9.0%
Feb-20

7.0%
18.3%
11.6%
11.0%
Mar-20

10.3%
12.6%
5.3%
18.1%
Apr-20

11.3%
16.8%
14.0%
13.2%
May-20

5.6%
14.3%
7.8%
11.3%
Jun-20

17.1%
9.8%
14.6%
18.6%
Jul-20

6.3%
7.0%
13.5%
7.8%
Aug-20

5.4%
5.2%
4.4%
6.1%
Sep-20

9.9%
15.1%
2.5%
10.0%
Oct-20

9.3%
21.2%
7.2%
10.8%
Nov-20

6.9%
10.4%
17.8%
15.9%
Dec-20

16.4%
15.4%
21.8%
4.8%
Jan-21

11.9%
12.1%
14.5%
5.8%
Feb-21

14.4%
6.9%
13.6%
16.8%
Mar-21

12.2%
29.2%
14.4%
21.7%
Apr-21

22.6%
23.2%
16.5%
13.0%
May-21

16.7%
25.4%
27.6%
21.6%
Jun-21

26.6%
12.7%
24.1%
13.8%
Jul-21

15.6%

14%

16%

15%

13%

11%

11%

12%

8%

12%

14%

14%

21%

18%

21%

14%

15%

6%

13%

15%

19%

17%

26%

18%

20%

19%

19%

24%

19.9%
17.4%
14.4%
11.0%
Apr-19

8%
9%
26%
13%
May-19

11%
21%
16%
19%
Jun-19

10%
17%
17%
18%
Jul-19

15%
9%
18%
10%
Aug-19

8%
14%
11%
14%
Sep-19

11%
6%
16%
10%
Oct-19

14%
13%
15%
7%
Nov-19

6%
5%
8%
10%
Dec-19

11%
9%
24%
12%
Jan-20

11%
21%
13%
19%
Feb-20

7%
12%
23%
13%
Mar-20

26%
19%
18%
18%
Apr-20

19%
21%
19%
14%
May-20

25%
24%
19%
15%
Jun-20

15%
12%
25%
7%
Jul-20

16%
11%
19%
12%
Aug-20

1%
3%
7%
16%
Sep-20

17%
22%
10%
5%
Oct-20

10%
8%
16%
35%
Nov-20

28%
13%
23%
30%
Dec-20

24%
12%
29%
19%
Jan-21

33%
33%
44%
30%
Feb-21

18%
17%
25%
14%
Mar-21

30%
25%
22%
22%
Apr-21

15%
22%
18%
21%
May-21

23%
39%
20%
18%
Jun-21

32%
23%
44%
22%
Jul-21

42.8%

57.0%

62.9%

51.3%

45.3%

49.1%

52.3%

61.1%

51.1%

61.9%

62.9%

69.0%

57.6%

66.7%

72.5%

71.7%

56.8%

55.1%

51.4%

45.0%

53.8%

69.3%

59.7%

67.1%

79.6%

79.8%

68.6%

70.5%

43.2%
45.5%
41.0%
42.5%

56.6%
60.6%
47.6%
62.3%

54.8%
62.1%
69.1%
65.6%

46.7%
55.7%
53.9%
52.8%

44.9%
45.9%
51.4%
40.0%

45.8%
45.9%
51.6%
54.4%

53.1%
48.7%
61.2%
46.8%

70.1%
56.7%
63.5%
52.8%

48.6%
41.5%
51.8%
57.8%

69.9%
65.6%
74.8%
72.3%

60.7%
80.6%
68.7%
69.7%

62.2%
74.5%
72.5%
71.8%

52.1%
50.5%
55.3%
70.1%

72.2%
63.6%
65.6%
64.7%

74.5%
69.3%
78.4%
68.8%

66.7%
67.6%
79.2%
72.9%

50.3%
56.1%
66.3%
59.7%

57.7%
45.2%
64.6%
51.0%

45.0%
58.9%
50.8%
53.6%

49.5%
59.1%
45.8%
59.0%

84.5%
58.2%
52.1%
79.7%

89.1%
73.1%
92.7%
76.2%

92.9%
89.7%
89.1%
59.4%

62.2%
65.7%
63.6%
75.9%

102.7%
100.0%
97.1%
95.0%

84.9%
75.4%
64.1%
90.1%

77.8%
100.0%
88.5%
78.4%

93.7%
96.2%
100.0%
77.7%

Data by Localities
Central
East
North
South
% of Enquiries with Emotional
Wellbeing as Presenting Issue
Data by Localities
Central
East
North
South

% of Enquiries with Child MH as a Presenting Issue
25.0%
20.0%
15.0%
10.0%
5.0%
0.0%

% of Enquiries with Parental MH as a Presenting Issue
30.0%
25.0%
20.0%
15.0%
10.0%
5.0%
0.0%

% of Enquiries with Emotional Wellbeing as Presenting Issue
100.0%
80.0%
60.0%
40.0%

20.0%
0.0%

May-20
Total Discussions at SEMH PM&S
Data by Gender
Male
Female
Born Male identifying as Female
Born Female identifying as Male
Gender Neutral
Data by Age
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
Average age of Individuals
Discussed at SEMH PM&S
Data by Reason
Most Common Reason
Count

Jun-20

Jul-20

Aug-20

Sep-20

13

8

13

21

12

5
8

3
5

3
10

3
13

2
10

0

0

0

1

0

0
0

0
0

0
0

4
0

0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
2
5
5
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
2
1
3
2
0

0
0
0
0
1
0
0
2
3
3
1
2
1

0
0
1
1
0
0
0
0
0
8
4
3
4

0
0
0
0
0
0
1
1
1
4
3
1
1

15.08

14.63

13.69

14.43

14.17

Intentional
Intentional
Intentional
Intentional
Intentional
Self-Poisoning Self-Poisoning Self-Poisoning Self-Poisoning Self-Poisoning

10

5

8

12

4

Page 50

Oct-20

Nov-20

Dec-20

Jan-21

Feb-21

Mar-21

Apr-21

22

13

9

15

18

25

23

4
18

2
11

1
8

4
11

5
13

4
21

9
12

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

1
0

0
0
1
0
0
0
1
1
5
5
5
3
1

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
2
1
5
3
1

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
1
1
5
1
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
3
1
1
8
1
1

0
0
2
0
0
0
0
1
2
1
5
4
3

0
0
0
0
1
0
2
4
4
7
3
3
1

1
0
0
0
1
0
1
0
3
7
5
4
1

13.86

14.77

14.44

14.40

14.22

13.56

13.83

Intentional
Intentional
Intentional
Intentional
Intentional
Intentional
Intentional
Self-Poisoning Self-Poisoning Self-Poisoning Self-Poisoning Self-Poisoning Self-Poisoning Self-Poisoning

11

Page 51

8

7

5

7

7

10

May-21

Jun-21

Jul-21

Aug-21

Sep-21

Oct-21

31

18

18

15

11

19

4
21

2
15

6
12

4
11

2
9

3
15

0

0

0

0

0

0

5
1

1
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

1
0

0
0
0
1
1
0
1
2
4
6
8
5
3

0
0
0
0
0
1
0
0
3
4
4
3
3

0
0
0
0
0
0
1
5
5
1
3
3
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
3
6
4
2

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
2
1
1
2
1
4

0
0
0
1
0
0
1
0
2
4
5
5
1

14.16

14.67

13.50

15.33

15.00

14.37

Intentional
Intentional
Self-Poisoning Self-Poisoning

14

9

Unspecified
Eating
Disorder

Suicidal
Ideation

6

4

Suicidal
Ideation

Intentional
Self-Poisoning

5

1

Page 52

Contents

Page 53

Mental Health
& Wellbeing
Vision Setting

1.
2.
3.
4.

Contents
Public Outreach
Where we gathered our findings
Responses from ages 2-26+
(Mental Health)
5. Ages 18 & under percentages
(Mental Health)
6. Quotes from under 18's
7. Our Vision
8. How to achieve our Vision

PUBLIC OUTREACH

Mental Health & Wellbeing Consultation

Over the Summer period Young Advisors have been
undertaking consultations in various locations across
Doncaster to gather information to feed into a new
new mental health strategy & vision setting. Our aim
was to speak to as many people as we could around
Doncaster to get their thoughts and opinions about...

'What does good mental health look like to you?'
Along with asking 'How old are you' and 'which area of
Doncaster do you live' so we can collect a range of
real thoughts and opinions of people of all ages and
areas of Doncaster.

Page 54

For any young people under the age of 13 years who
did not understand the questions, we asked them
instead...

"What makes you happy?"

Page 55

WHERE WE GATHERED
OUR FINDINGS
To gather our information we wanted to try and cover as much
of Doncaster as we could in the time that we had.
We visited the following places that we knew had a high footfall
for families and young people.
Lakeside Village
Frenchgate Shopping Centre
The Dome Leisure Centre
Thorne Summer Festival
NCS Summer Programme
Youth Hub Wellbeing Programmes
Bawtry Paintball Centre
Available as an Online Form

After analysing the data, we had received responses from
young people in every area of each locality within Doncaster:
North, South, East, Central.

RESPONSES FROM
AGES 2-26+ YEARS

No. of Responses

75

'What does good Mental
Health look like to you?'

50

KEY:

25

= Positive Mindset

= Animals

= Hobbies & activites

= Socialising

= Nature / outdoors

= Self-care

= Physical health
= Don't know

0
Page 56

2-5

6-9

10-13 14-17 18-21 22-25

Age

26+

N/A

= Education
= Support & opportunity

(N/A is for the young people around 13 and under who
were asked 'what made them happy?' and did not give
their age)

Page 57

AGES 18 & UNDER PERCENTAGES
'What does good Mental Health look like to you?'
32.9% said that mental health was to do with having
a positive mindset: being happy, able to deal with
stress, feeling content and confident, having
someone to talk to and be listened to.
5% said that mental health was to do with physical
health or exercise.

Don't Know
7.3%
Support &
Opportunities
3%

Positive Mindset
32.9%

Self Care
2.6%

3% said that mental health was when you have
support and opportunities to grow.
2.6% of answers were related to taking care of yourself.
Less than 2% of responses commented on nature.
Less than 2% of responses commented on school or
education.
Less than 2% of responses commented on safety.
7.3% didn't know how to answer or didn't respond.

Hobbies
17.5%

Animals
4.7%
Socialising
23.5%

QUOTES FROM
UNDER 18'S
Ages 10 and under commented
about pets & family keeping
them happy.
Several people pointed out that
you can't tell what mental
health looks like or means
because people can seem the
opposite of how they are
feeling.
Many people mentioned about
being happy, confident and
content with yourself.

Page 58

Lots of people spoke about
being around/socialising with
friends and family.

"Feeling good
about yourself
and what's
happening
around you"
- Age 13

"Having a pet to
look after"
- Age 5

"My teachers, my family
and my friends" - Age 8

"Not always being okay,
but being happy with
yourself" - Age 16

"Having good fitness and
feeling good about yourself"
- Age 10

"Mental health doesn't
have a specific look" Age 16

"Taking care of
yourself" - Age 14
"Having enough energy
to get through the day,
having a desire to do
well and feeling a
purpose in life" - Age 17

Page 59

OUR VISION:

From the feedback we have received, we feel that the
Vision for Doncaster should be........
"To ensure that every Child and Young Person in Doncaster is aware
of and has access to local, immediate, quality mental health and
wellbeing support . To ensure that services and organisations are
working more collaboratively and information is easily accessible. We
want to see more education for young people, parents/carers and
professionals around recognising and supporting the needs of a
young person. We want to break the stigma, encouraging children
and young people to talk more openly and not to feel ashamed of
their mental health and wellbeing."

We can achieve our vision by...

W

Page 60

E
L
L

ellbeing hub -

motions earning istened to -

Creating local hubs for young
people giving them somewhere
to go, something to do &
someone to talk to
Young people are aware of their
emotions and how to express
them in a healthy way.
Educating young people,
parents/carers, school staff &
professionals around supporting
young people with their wellbeing.
Ensuring young people have a
say in decisions that are made
around their mental health &
wellbeing

Page 61

B
E

e kind to yourself mpower-

I nformationN eedsG

rowth-

Promoting the importance
of self-care in wellbeing.
Allow young people to have their
voices heard and be involved in
the strategic decision making.

Raising awareness of the services
available and invest in a digital
platform led by young people, for
young people, where all
information is connected
Meeting the basic human needs of
every child in Doncaster to ensure
they feel happy, healthy, safe and
supported.

To ensure all children and young
people have the support they need
to grow, and achieve their full
potential

Thank you!
Page 62

Agenda Item 10
Doncaster
Health and Wellbeing Board
Date: 11.11.21
Subject: Doncaster Delivering Together - Implementation
Presented by: Allan Wiltshire
Purpose of bringing this report to the Board – To outline the means by which we want to
deliver the Doncaster Delivering Together (DDT) Strategy
Decision
Recommendation to Full Council
Endorsement

X

Information

X

Implications
DHWB Strategy Areas of Focus

Applicable Yes/No
Substance Misuse (Drugs and Alcohol)

YES

Mental Health

YES

Dementia

YES

Obesity

YES

Children and Families

YES

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
Finance
Legal
Equalities

YES
NO
NO
YES

Other Implications (please list)

How will this contribute to improving health and wellbeing in Doncaster?
The Health and Well Being Board have helped to shape and agree the DDT strategy and now we
need to create the conditions for delivery. The manner and pace of delivery will be critical to improving
health and well-being in Doncaster.
Recommendations
The Board is asked to receive and comment upon the presentation that will outline the proposed way
in which we can implement the DDT strategy.

Page 63

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
Doncaster
Health and Wellbeing Board
Date: 11th November 2021
Subject:
Presented by:

Local Solutions for People and Places: Next Steps in Improving Health and
Wellbeing Together
Phil Holmes

Purpose of bringing this report to the Board
Endorsement
Implications
DHWB Strategy Areas of Focus

Applicable Yes/No
Substance Misuse (Drugs and Alcohol)

Yes

Mental Health

Yes

Dementia

Yes

Obesity

Yes

Children and Families

Yes

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
Finance
Legal
Equalities

Yes
Yes
No
Yes

Other Implications (please list)

How will this contribute to improving health and wellbeing in Doncaster?
Team Doncaster is committed to supporting people, families and communities with local solutions that
address their needs and build on their strengths in the place where they live. Working in a way that is
responsive to local issues and assets, and investing funding alongside local communities (rather than
“doing to” them) will increase local health and wellbeing by giving people more control over their lives
and stronger connections with others.
Recommendations
The Board is asked to:- Note the development of Local Solutions approaches in all of Doncaster’s neighbourhoods and
the opportunity to build on these alongside local organisations of all sizes
- Note the development of Locality Plans that will be informed by engagement with local people
and communities, building on existing strengths and addressing identified needs
- Endorse the use of non-recurrent Better Care Fund monies to invest in preventative working in
each of Doncaster’s localities / neighbourhoods

Page 65

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
Doncaster
Health and Wellbeing Board
Date: 11 November 2021
Subject:
Presented by:

History, Health and Happiness: Wellbeing at Heritage Doncaster Update
Victoria Ryves, NPO Programme Manager, Heritage Doncaster

Purpose of bringing this report to the Board
The presentation will update the Board on the History, Health and Happiness programme at Heritage
Doncaster. This includes the impact on the community to date and the results of ongoing evaluation
by Sheffield Hallam University/Arc Research. The Board are invited to feedback and challenge the
work to date. Heritage Doncaster is exploring future funding models for this programme of work. We
invite the Board to consider what role History, Health and Happiness could play in the health and
wellbeing of Doncaster’s community in the future, in order to inform future applications, and we also
wish to explore what models of commissioning may look like in the future. We also invite the Board to
consider how as individual organisations you may contribute to the work of History, Health and
Happiness at Heritage Doncaster in its current programme of work (until March 2023).
Decision
Recommendation to Full Council
Endorsement
Information
Heritage Doncaster’s History, Health and Happiness programme is a
programme of wellbeing activities that take place in four communities in
Doncaster. The work is funded by Arts Council England. Our activities aim to
use history and storytelling to spark conversation, improve wellbeing and
tackle isolation.
Implications
DHWB Strategy Areas of Focus

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
Finance
Legal
Equalities

Page 67

Applicable Yes/No
Substance Misuse (Drugs and Alcohol)

No

Mental Health

Yes

Dementia

Yes

Obesity

No

Children and Families

Yes
No
No
No
No

Other Implications (please list)

Determining content
of funding application

How will this contribute to improving health and wellbeing in Doncaster?
History, Health and Happiness works in localities around the borough to tackle isolation, improve
wellbeing and encourage connections. The work is evaluated by Sheffield Hallam University and Arc
Research and Consultancy Ltd. Heritage Doncaster is confident that the programming is forming
connections, enhancing skills and improving the wellbeing of participants. Evaluation for 2020/21
found that lockdown sessions “reached out to the vulnerable and built online communities.” The
evaluation concludes that “for those who attend the [digital social clubs] the impact of the project has
been considerable, both in terms of connection, mental health, and increased confidence around
computer use.” It also found that participants had a 20% increase in interest in new things - a
contributing factor to increased mental health scores.
A full analysis of the impact can be found in Impact Reports:


Impact Report 2019/20: https://www.heritagedoncaster.org.uk/projects/happyhistory/historyhealth-and-happiness-impact-report-2019-20/



Impact Report 2020/21: https://www.heritagedoncaster.org.uk/projects/happyhistory/historyhealth-and-happiness-impact-report-2020-21/

Recommendations
The Board is asked to: Provide feedback and challenge the History, Health and Happiness programme to date
 Consider what role History, Health and Happiness may play in the health and wellbeing of
Doncaster’s community, in order to inform future funding applications (submitted in March
2022)
 Consider how as individual organisations you may contribute to the work of History, Health and
Happiness at Heritage Doncaster until 2023. Areas to develop include:
o Work with children and young people
o Activities in Stainforth, Adwick/Woodlands and Hexthorpe
o Adult mental health
o Commissions and alternative funding structures
o Ways to enhance co-production in the programming, including with health

professionals

Page 68

Report
____________________________________________________________________
Agenda Item No. 12
To the Chair and Members of the
Health and Wellbeing Board

Date:

11 November 2021

HISTORY, HEALTH AND HAPPINESS: WELLBEING AT HERITAGE
DONCASTER UPDATE
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
In April 2018 Heritage Doncaster became an Arts Council National Portfolio
Organisation (NPO). The NPO funding enables Heritage Doncaster to deliver a
strategic programme of outreach work called History, Health and Happiness.
History, Health and Happiness aims to tackle isolation and improve wellbeing in
four key areas of Doncaster by using museum collections as the basis for outreach
and community engagement activities. We strive to empower participants to feel
more connected to others in their community, and have a greater understanding of
and pride in the place they live. The activities are participant led and respond to the
needs and interests of the communities in which they take place. The activities all
take place outside of the museum buildings in localities.
All activities are evaluated by Sheffield Hallam University/Arc Research and
Consultancy Ltd and we are confident that the work is making a real and
meaningful difference to the lives of individuals across Doncaster.
The current funding for this programme of work comes to a close in March 2023.
Heritage Doncaster are exploring funding opportunities for March 2023 onwards.
RECOMMENDATIONS
The Board are invited to feedback and challenge the work to date.
Heritage Doncaster is also exploring future funding models for this programme of
work. We invite the Board to consider what role History, Health and Happiness
could play in the health and wellbeing of Doncaster’s community in the future, in
order to inform future applications, and we also wish to explore what models of
commissioning may look like in the future.
We also invite the Board to consider how as individual organisations you may
contribute to the work of History, Health and Happiness at Heritage Doncaster in its
current programme of work (until March 2023).Particular areas to develop include:
 Work with children and young people
 Activities in Stainforth, Adwick/Woodlands and Hexthorpe
www.doncaster.gov.uk

Page 69





Adult mental health
Commissions and alternative funding structures
Ways to enhance co-production in the programming, including with health
professionals

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER?
History, Health and Happiness works in localities around the borough to tackle
isolation, improve wellbeing and encourage connections. The programme of work
provides cultural interventions on the doorsteps of residents in Doncaster. The
interventions are often part of recovery from mental health challenges for
participants, as well as the maintenance of good wellbeing. Participants are also
learning new skills, gaining confidence and deepening connections with their
neighbours.
The work is evaluated by Sheffield Hallam University and Arc Research and
Consultancy Ltd. Heritage Doncaster is confident that the programming is forming
connections, enhancing skills and improving the wellbeing of participants.
Evaluation for 2020/21 found that lockdown sessions “reached out to the
vulnerable and built online communities.” The evaluation concludes that “for those
who attend the [digital social clubs] the impact of the project has been
considerable, both in terms of connection, mental health, and increased confidence
around computer use.” It also found that participants had a 20% increase in
interest in new things - a contributing factor to increased mental health scores.
A full analysis of the impact to date can be found in Impact Reports:
Appendix 1: Impact Report 2019/20:
https://www.heritagedoncaster.org.uk/projects/happyhistory/history-health-andhappiness-impact-report-2019-20/
Appendix 2: Impact Report 2020/21:
https://www.heritagedoncaster.org.uk/projects/happyhistory/history-health-andhappiness-impact-report-2020-21/
BACKGROUND
Activity began in localities in 2019, and included the launch of several partnership
programmes and social clubs. These include:
 Herstory. A weekly social club for working aged women in Denaby Main.
Each week the stories of women in the past are explored through hands-on
activities. Aim to improve confidence, build resilience and skills.
 History Club, in partnership with B:friend. Monthly hands-on history
activities at social clubs. Aim to invite conversation, build relationships and a
sense of place.
 Alzheimer’s Society sessions. Aim to build relationships, stir memories
and provide positive interactions.
 Young Carers sessions. Activities based on local history to inspire
creativity, build skills and build sense of place.
 ESOL classes, in collaboration with AFCL. English language sessions
utilising local history as their basis. Building skills and sense of place.
In 2020 activity was adapted in response to the pandemic. This included:
 Digital Social Clubs. Online clubs encouraging conversation and tackling
loneliness. Continued attendance in the “new normal”.
 Partnership programmes. Including sessions commissioned by Doncaster
Mind and in collaboration with the Yorkshire Wildlife Trust.

Page 70




Contributions to partner activities, including online broadcasts ran by
b:friend, phone in social clubs, Youth Club activities
Offline activity packs. Over 6000 activity packs sent to over 750 isolated
adults each month.

Since August 2021 a blended approach to activities in being taken. Digital social
clubs and offline activity packs continue, alongside resuming in-person activities
and partnership programming.
Partnerships are at the heart of what we do. We have fostered partnerships with
other Council teams, third sector organisations, community groups and individuals.
History, Health and Happiness is regarded in the heritage sector as an example of
best practice. In 2020/21 the programme has been nominated for three national
awards (including the upcoming Museums Change Lives Awards). The Programme
Manager is regularly invited
OPTIONS CONSIDERED
The presentation invites the Health and Wellbeing Board to consider what role
History, Health and Happiness could play in the health and wellbeing of
Doncaster’s community in the future, in order to inform future applications, and we
also wish to explore what models of commissioning may look like in the future.
IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES
Outcomes
Doncaster Working: Our vision is for
more people to be able to pursue their
ambitions through work that gives
them and Doncaster a brighter and
prosperous future;
 Better access to good fulfilling work
 Doncaster businesses are
supported to flourish
 Inward Investment

Doncaster Living: Our vision is for
Doncaster’s people to live in a
borough that is vibrant and full of
opportunity, where people enjoy
spending time;
 The town centres are the beating
heart of Doncaster
 More people can live in a good
quality, affordable home
 Healthy and Vibrant Communities
through Physical Activity and Sport
Page 71

Implications
History, Health and Happiness
sessions seek to build skills,
and increase confidence of
participants, equipping them
with skills for work.
Volunteer opportunities are
also offered.
History, Health and Happiness
also works with local artists
and other creative industries,
providing work opportunities
for local creatives. The History,
Health and Happiness
programme is recognised as
an example of best practice
and brings investment.
History, Health and Happiness
capitalises on our cultural,
artistic and sporting heritage. It
strives to build a strong sense
of place amongst participants,
fostering civic pride.

 Everyone takes responsibility for
keeping Doncaster Clean
 Building on our cultural, artistic and
sporting heritage
Doncaster Learning: Our vision is for
learning that prepares all children,
young people and adults for a life that
is fulfilling;
 Every child has life-changing
learning experiences within and
beyond school
 Many more great teachers work in
Doncaster Schools that are good or
better
 Learning in Doncaster prepares
young people for the world of work
Doncaster Caring: Our vision is for a
borough that cares together for its
most vulnerable residents;
 Children have the best start in life
 Vulnerable families and individuals
have support from someone they
trust
 Older people can live well and
independently in their own homes
Connected Council:
 A modern, efficient and flexible
workforce
 Modern, accessible customer
interactions
 Operating within our resources and
delivering value for money
 A co-ordinated, whole person,
whole life focus on the needs and
aspirations of residents
 Building community resilience and
self-reliance by connecting
community assets and strengths
 Working with our partners and
residents to provide effective
leadership and governance

History, Health and Happiness
is an example of life-long
learning, providing ongoing
learning opportunities for
adults.
The programme also delivers
informal learning for children
and young people, outside of a
school setting.

History, Health and Happiness
has wellbeing at its core. It
aims to tackle isolation, build
relationships and improve
wellbeing across the Borough.
It strives to build resilience
amongst participants, and
enable people to live well.

History, Health and Happiness
is driven by community insight
and is co-produced by
residents.

RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS
The programme is funded by Arts Council England. By December 2021 Heritage
Doncaster will be notified whether funding is secured until 31 March 2023.
Additional funding will need to be secured to continue with the work. This funding
may include repeat funding from Arts Council England, but other sources must be
Page 72

considered. This includes commissions and project based grants.
Heritage Doncaster is undergoing a service transformation and staffing review.
This may have some implications on the History, Health and Happiness staff team.
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
N/A at this stage
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
N/A at this stage
HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS
N/A at this stage
TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS
N/A at this stage
HEALTH IMPLICATIONS
N/A at this stage
EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS
N/A at this stage
CONSULTATION
N/A at this stage
BACKGROUND PAPERS


Impact Report 2019/20:
https://www.heritagedoncaster.org.uk/projects/happyhistory/history-healthand-happiness-impact-report-2019-20/



Impact Report 2020/21:
https://www.heritagedoncaster.org.uk/projects/happyhistory/history-healthand-happiness-impact-report-2020-21/

REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS
Name: Victoria Ryves
01302 737339
Victoria.Ryves@doncaster.gov.uk
NPO Programme Manager
Heritage Doncaster

Page 73

This page is intentionally left blank

HISTORY
HEALTH &
HAPPINESS
2019/20 Impact Report

Page 75

In April 2018 Heritage Doncaster became an Arts Council National Portfolio

Who
we are

Organisation (NPO). The NPO funding enables Heritage Doncaster to deliver a
strategic programme of outreach work called History, Health and Happiness.
Heritage Doncaster is part of Doncaster Council and oversees Doncaster Museum
and Art Gallery, Cusworth Hall and Park, Doncaster Local Studies Library, Doncaster
Archives and the King’s Own Yorkshire Light Infantry Museum. Heritage Doncaster
cares for almost 1 million objects, documents and artworks that date from millions of
years ago to today.

History Club with b:friend. Image: James Mulkeen

What
we do

History, Health and Happiness aims to tackle isolation and improve
wellbeing in four key areas of Doncaster by using museum collections
as the basis for outreach and community engagement activities. We
strive to make participants feel more connected to others in their
community, and have a greater understanding of and pride in the place
they live. The activities are participant led and respond to the needs and
interests of the communities in which they take place.

Page 76

en

Why it
matters

H E A LT H & W E L L B E I N G
Feeling connected is good for you. Loneliness and disconnection has a big
impact on health. It is strongly linked to depression, dementia and heart disease

(Calioppe et all, 2006; James et al, 2011 and Valtorta et al, 2016).
Loneliness increases the likelihood of mortality by 26% and is just as bad for
your heart as smoking 15 cigarettes a day (Holt-Lunstad, 2015).
9 million adults in the UK are either always or often lonely (Co-Op or British Red Cross).
In Doncaster it is estimated that 55,000 people in the Borough experience
some form of mental health problem (Doncaster HWB Strategy). People who
experience a greater sense of belonging report higher mental health scores

“

(happinesspulse.co.uk).

We aim to encourage connections and conversations to
tackle loneliness, as well as building connections and
friendships through social interactions.

Relationships are the key to
wellbeing - more so than social
status or life circumstances
Parsfield et al, 2015

Page 77

RESILIENCE & CONFIDENCE BUILDING
Social connections and relationships with people in your community build places that are more resilient.
It is more likely that self-interest and differences can be put aside for the common good (Siegler, 2016). A strong
sense of community can also increase individual resilience and confidence to withstand difficult situations

(Sandstrom, 2013). Our programmes encourage people to develop their confidence and meet with people outside of
their normal social circles.

SENSE OF PLACE
People who talk to their neighbours on most days
are more than three times more likely to have a
strong sense of belonging than those who never
speak to their neighbours (ONS UK Community Life

Survey). A sense of belonging and community can
bring communities together, reducing differences in
social and cultural identifies. A sense of place is also
important in fostering community pride and creating a
Doncaster that people can be proud of.

Cooking Through Time. Image: Heritage Doncaster

ECONOMIC IMPACT & SKILLS
Wellbeing is a key influencer on the economy (Centre for Economics and Business Return). People who are stronger,
healthier and happy are better workers. Poor mental health costs the UK economy up to £99 billion a year

(Stevenson and Farmer, DWP, 2017). In addition, older patients who live alone are more than 50% more likely to access
emergency care services incurring a cost (Dreyer, 2018). We also aim to encourage participants to gain new skills which is

H

turn raises their confidence and their job market profile.

Page 78

Why
history?
History has the ability to unite people through a sense of
a shared past. For example, shared memories of childhood
games, school dinners, or local folk stories you have heard
before. History can also be unique to place, allowing us to
share stories that are uniquely Doncaster, or Denaby Main,
or Mexborough.
History is inspiring. Stories of when those in the past have
overcome adversity, beaten the odds and demonstrated
immeasurable strength can inspire us and enable us to find
comfort when we face our own turbulent times. We can also
learn from hiatory and strive to create a society that avoids
repeating the past’s mistakes.
Storytelling is key to sharing the past and it sparks
curiosity, learning, imagination and creativity. We hope to
give everyone’s creativity the opportunity to flourish and
encourage life-long learning.
History is also more than what has happened before. We
make history every day and we aim to enable participants
to write their own history and leave their own mark on the
History Club with b:friend. Image: James Mulkeen

Page 79

historical record.

Our programmes are shaped by the people who take part and we encourage

Our
activities

participants to play an active role in the sessions.
Hands-on access to Heritage Doncaster’s objects enables unique storytelling
opportunities. We also acknowledge that today is tomorrow’s history and encourage
participants to share. The time to chat and the time for stories to be valued is key.

We aim to foster connections and conversations, as well as
spark creativity and learning.

HISTORY CLUB

History Club with b:friend. Image: James Mulkeen

We partner with b:friend, a local charity that delivers social
clubs for isolated older adults, for History Club. History Club
is a monthly Heritage Doncaster takeover of 4 of their social
clubs. The sessions focus on hands-on heritage activities,
storytelling and the opportunity for participants to share
their own views, stories, and memories.

Page 80

HERSTORY
A weekly social club for women in Denaby Main. Each week the
group looks at the stories and experiences of women in the past.
The sessions focus on conversation, storytelling, and learning from
the past.

Herstory. Image: James Mulkeen

COOKING THROUGH TIME
In collaboration with Adult, Family and Community Learning, and Doncaster Conversation Club we delivered Cooking
through Time ESOL sessions. In each session participants develop their conversational English skills by learning about
Doncaster’s past and cooking historical recipes. Recipes included Roman stuffed dates, Viking bread and Victorian scones.

en

Refugee Week 2019. Image: Heritage Doncaster

Y O U N G P E O P L E & F A M I LY H U B S
Following on from pilot activities delivered in summer 2019 we have launched a
programme of activity specifically focussed on working with families and young
people. This includes partnerships with Family Hubs and organisations that support
young carers. The sessions focus on wellbeing and confidence building.

Page 81

experiencing
“
new levels of connectedness and are building their relationships within their community.
”
They are also well engaged in project activities and learning things that are new to them.
“
”
We can infer that participants in History, Health and Happiness programmes are

Arc Research and Consultancy Ltd/Sheffield Hallam University

ISOLATION

~20 %

93 %

increase in feelings of interest in
other people**

met new people**

11 %

83 %

83 %

became interested to try other activities in my
community**

talked to people outside their age group**

H E A LT H & W E L L B E I N G

23 %

rise in
confidence*

~15 %

~20 %
increase in optimism about the future**

96 %

rise in feelings of belonging &
connectedness*

increase in new things**

made someone else feel welcome**

11 %

rise in
happiness levels*

Page 82

Herstory has changed

Better than any lesson I have

my life. It gives me something

been in at school. Lots of fun. I

to look forward to.

have learned a lot from this.

Denaby

It stimulates the
little grey cells.

Denaby

Denaby

35

SENSE
OF PLACE

14 %

SKILLS

94 %

86 %

of people learned something new**

shared their skills knowledge or
memories**

400+

museum objects used
in outreach to bring
history to life

300+

hours of Heritage Doncaster
social sessions

2086
131
at

rise in how people feel
about where they live*

chosen by participants

150+
objects loaned from community groups & individuals for
the Danum Gallery, Library and Museum

1
6

visit to Parliament

13

COUNTRIES

celebrated Refugee Week
at Central Family Hub in
June 2019

62

people learnt how to
charleston

cups of tea made

sessions

40 TOPICS

PEOPLE

2500

interactions

62

14

partnerships with
Doncaster organisations

recreations of the
journey of the
Mayflower

17

unique stories shared
by older neighbours
at b:heard events

The data is taken from quantitative methods (a Wellbeing scale and adapted WEBWBS), as well as qualitative data including facilitator diaries and case studies. The data was analysed by Arc
Research and Consultancy Ltd/Sheffield Hallam University.
*Based on data from 10 people who attended Herstory in Denaby Main in financial year 2019/20. Sample only includes those who completed a questionnaire at 3 time points.
** Based on data from thirty-two people drawn from the population of those that participated in Heritage Doncaster activity Jan-Dec 2019. The sample includes only those who completed a
questionnaire at two time points.

Page 83

What
people
say

TESTIMONIES
I absolutely love Herstory. I was unsure to start with as I didn’t know what to
expect and I wasn’t into history at school. I thought there can’t
be that many great women in history but wow there is. I enjoy learning about
everything from all the decades as the things we are learning are things we are
interested in. I also think our group is amazing and we have formed such a special
friendship because we are all going through a similar thing in life. I for one can say I
have felt my confidence increase within the group. The ladies are fantastic and
no question is too silly to ask. I love it.
Herstory for me prevents isolation, forms friendships, gives good learning
and is well presented. I love all the topics we do and how much we have
learned, and the places we have been, the people we have met over the last year.
I am interested in most topics and love to see what we are doing each week.

r
Doncaste
ciate the
re
p
e
p
a
W
.
y
p
ll
“I rea
e grou
ing to th
m
o
c
d
n
m
a
ew
museu
ething n
arn som
le
s
y
a
e visits,
lw
th
a
ard to
rw
fo
k
o
always lo
tinue”
they con
long may

“Comin
g to the
heritag
made m
e group
e feel m
has
u
ch bett
mind o
er and
ff my p
took m
roblem
y
s.”

Mexborough b:friend participant
Mexborough b:friend participant

“Keep it going!
Art is for all”
Thorne b:friend participant

Page 84

s
in all its form
n loneliness
he
w
e
tim
a
t
“A
or concern
tified as a maj
has been iden
particularly
is initiative is
is
for society th
levance of th
The social re
le
ab
worthwhile.
ly applic
ramme is high
targeted prog
raphical
og
e issues of ge
here given th
service, taking
tified by the
inequality iden
to these
e service out
t”
the work of th
or commitmen
erefore a maj
th
is
s
ie
lit
ca
lo

“Thank yo
u. Very sati
sfied today
come again
so I shall
. You peop
le have ma
of people
de a lot
happy and
relaxed to
day.”

Balby b:friend participant
Arts Council Assessor

“In no sense could these groups be
seen as ‘the usual suspects’ in terms
of museum provision i.e. members of
traditional history or civic societies, there
was a degree of excitement in evidence
particularly I think for the B:Friend group
where members expressed delight that
the museum service should want to bring
material out to them”

“The time spent was most enjoyable
throughout and very entertaining
with a warm and happy atmosphere.
Loved it all.”

Arts Council Assessor
Balby b:friend participant

Page 85

A
snapshot
of our
sessions

Based on 114 responses from 17 sessions October 2019-March 2020

Page 86

MOVING MUSEUM
We will soon be able to launch the Moving Museum. The Moving Museum is a
travelling exhibition that will journey around the Borough. It will share stories
from Heritage Doncaster’s collection, as well as showcase co-curated content
produced by community groups and individuals. This will link to co-curated
exhibitions in the new Danum Gallery, Library and Museum and enable us to
share more diverse stories from Doncaster’s community.

LIFE DURING & AFTER LOCKDOWN
During the coronavirus pandemic, History, Health and Happiness has adapted its
programming to continue to provide cultural activities, support and much needed
escapism. This has included producing activity packs for distribution to isolated and
vulnerable adults, digital social clubs and producing mindful ‘Five Minute History’
audio recordings. We have worked closely with partner organisations to ensure that
we can support those most at risk in our community.
Tackling isolation and fostering connectedness have never been more
important. The coronavirus pandemic and the need to stay at home have
shown many of us the impact that isolation can have on your mental health and
wellbeing. For many, social isolation will not go away once lockdown is lifted.
As a result, social clubs like those that we deliver will continue to play a vital
role in building confidence, forming connections and tackling loneliness.
We also acknowledge that staying home is a way of life for many in our community, including those living with social
anxiety and living with disabilities that prevent them from leaving the house. History, Health and Happiness aims to
launch Museums at Home that continues to bring heritage stories and activities in to people’s Museums at Home. These
programmes will build on the learning from the digital, virtual, and postal resources created during the Covid-19 pandemic.

NEW PARTNERSHIPS & ACTIVITIES
FOR 2020/2021
History, Health and Happiness will be piloting new activities that aim to reach new audiences. These include activities in
Stainforth and Woodlands, and activities specifically targeted at families and young people.

Page 87

We
need
you

PARTNERSHIPS
The data analysed by Arc Research and Consultancy Ltd and Sheffield Hallam
University reveals that we still have a long way to go in improving how people
see their local area and community. A collaborative approach, across agencies
and Doncaster Council teams will allow us to develop communities and a sense
of place. We are seeking new partnerships and relationships to enable us to
break down barriers in communities through culture and history, as well as the
opportunity to participate in the Borough wide strategies on place, well-being,
caring, and learning.
We also want to work with more third sector organisations and providers
who deliver social clubs. We can provide content and resources based on our
fascinating museum collections that can be adapted by organisations and groups.

VOLUNTEERING
An element of ensuring sustainability of our outreach programme includes
providing opportunities for volunteers to build skills and learning in order to assist
with delivery of activities, and recruiting participants for sessions. We are looking
for volunteers to help support our History, Health and Happiness programme.

GETTING THE WORD OUT
We want to share our best practice in developing a community-based wellbeing
model and delivering participant led activities within communities.
We have tips on building partnerships, encouraging people to attend activity, and
evaluation that we would like to share.
We also want as many people as possible to know about the History, Health and
Happiness programme of work, and for as many people as possible to be able to
attend our activities. We need your help in getting the word out!
We firmly believe that our workshops are meaningful and an asset to Doncaster.

Page 88

Contact
us

If you have any questions or would like more information,
please contact Victoria on
yo u rm e mories@d on ca ster. gov .uk
0 1 3 0 2 73 73 3 9

You can find out more at
www.heritagedocnaster.org.uk/HappyHistor y

Page 89

Page 90

Page 91

HISTORY
HEALTH &
HAPPINESS
2020/21 Impact Report

•

2•

2020 IS A YEAR THAT NONE OF US WILL FORGET
INTRODUCTION
The Covid-19 pandemic has had an unprecedented impact on all aspects of our lives. Words
and phrases like lockdown, social distancing, isolating and bubbles are now part of our
everyday vocabulary. Masks, online activities, contactless interactions, and the two metre rule
are also the norm. We know that the pandemic has impacted on mental health, relationships,
work and education. However, during the pandemic there have been many examples of
creativity and innovation- and I believe History, Health and Happiness is one of these.

History, Health and Happiness have sent over 6500 activity packs to
isolated adults across Doncaster in 2020/21- that’s roughly 600 a month.
These packs address the barrier to social inclusion identified by the Local
Government Association: a lack of access to the internet. In this report
you will read the feedback from those who received the packs- with
some describing them as a timely reminder of community and kindness.

In April 2018 Heritage Doncaster became an Arts Council National Portfolio Organisation
(NPO). The NPO funding enables Heritage Doncaster to deliver a programme of outreach work
called History, Health and Happiness. History, Health and Happiness aims to tackle isolation and
improve wellbeing in Doncaster by using museum collections as the basis for outreach and
community engagement activities.

The programme launched two new innovative digital social clubs- the
Museum Make-A-Long and History Book Club. The evidence you’ll
read in this report shows that taking part in these clubs helps to build
confidence and resilience, as well as having a positive impact on
wellbeing. The evaluation data also demonstrates that participants
developed digital skills and tried new things for the first time.

In 2020, the History, Health and Happiness programme was able to adapt quickly to continue
to support the wellbeing of its programme participants, as well as the partner organisations
that it worked with before the pandemic. History, Health and Happiness was also able to offer
support to the increased number of Doncaster’s residents experiencing isolation (including
receiving referrals through social prescribing, social media and third sector organisations). The
first History, Health and Happiness activity bundle was distributed to 500 isolated residents
in April 2020, and the first digital social club session took place the week after lockdown. This
rapid response was noted by evaluators Arc Research and Consultancy Ltd/Sheffield Hallam
University, who said:

Page 92

The project continued to be enthusiastic
- switching delivery, bringing innovative
approaches, and maintaining delivery in
trying circumstances.

Image: James Mulkeen

Page 93

It is clear from the evaluation that the work of History, Health and
Happiness is having a positive impact on wellbeing and community.
We know that history and storytelling is helping people to feel better
about themselves and where they live. History, Health and Happiness
is building a reputation as a sector lead in delivering in communities,
organisational wellbeing and partnership working, presenting at a variety
of conferences and workshops in 2020.

•

3•

2020 has also seen some exciting new developments for Doncaster,
including the completion of the new Danum Gallery, Library and
Museum. We can’t wait to welcome you for a visit! On display are objects
from Heritage Doncaster’s collections, including some displayed for the
first time. There are also objects on display that have been loaned by
community groups and individuals including objects from 40 different
people telling the story of 2020 in the new Museum of You display case.
This year, History, Health and Happiness has actively developed its reach
engaging those who have not engaged with their community or museum
before. The team are also working to represent and tell the stories of
more of Doncaster’s community, for example, recruiting ‘Changing the
Record’ community researchers to seek out and broaden understanding
of stories of underrepresented groups.
In January 2020 Arts Council England released their new strategy ‘Let’s
Create’, and we are confident that History, Health and Happiness will
continue to excel in line with their investment principles, particularly in
‘inclusion and relevance’. 2021 also saw the launch of a new Business
Plan for Heritage Doncaster. History, Health and Happiness works across
all four of the new strategic objectives.
As we look to the future and a roadmap out of Covid-19 restrictions,
History, Health and Happiness has a clear plan to develop their work
further and continue to tackle isolation and improve wellbeing.
I am honoured to be able to write this introduction to the 2020/21
Impact Report on behalf of History, Health & Happiness. The programme
has made a significant impact through the past year despite the immense
difficulties Covid restrictions posed on delivery. I am sure you will agree
this impact report provides inspiring and joyful reading.

Matt Cridge,
Head of Stronger Families, Doncaster Council
Image: James Mulkeen

•

4•

Who
we are
H I S T O R Y, H E A L T H & H A P P I N E S S
In April 2018 Heritage Doncaster became an Arts Council England National Portfolio Organisation
(NPO). The NPO funding enables Heritage Doncaster to deliver a strategic programme of
outreach work called History, Health and Happiness.
History, Health and Happiness aims to tackle isolation and improve wellbeing by using museum
collections as the basis for outreach and community engagement activities. Our activities use
history and storytelling to spark conversation, improve wellbeing and tackle isolation. Simply putwe use history to empower people to feel good about themselves and their communities, and to
feel more connected.
History, Health and Happiness works with adults and families. The activities are delivered in
partnership with other organisations and independently. People access our programmes by selfreferral, as well as through referrals from social prescribing, and other third sector organisations.
This report outlines the impact that the History, Health and Happiness programme has had
in 2020/21. It is based on data compiled by Sheffield Hallam University/Arc Research and
Consultancy Ltd, case studies and feedback.

Page 94

What
we do
Image: The Museum of You Case at the Danum Gallery,
Library & Museum, Heritage Doncaster

•

Page 95

Why it
matters

FEELING CONNECTED
Our activities are making a difference in Doncaster. In 2019/20, we
found that participants in our programmes felt more connected to the
world around them (Sheffield Hallam University/Arc Research and
Consultancy Ltd). We know that feeling connected is good for you.
Loneliness increases the likelihood of mortality by 26% and is just as
bad for your heart as smoking 15 cigarettes a day
(Holt-Lunstad, 2015).
Prior to Covid-19, the Understanding Society Survey found that 8.5% of
people in the UK said that they were often or always lonely. The Covid
Social Study data collected between 21st March and 10th May 2020
found that this number was now 18.5%. In general, the data shows that
the people who felt most lonely before the Covid pandemic in the UK,
now have even higher levels of loneliness (What Works Wellbeing/UCL.
2020). Programmes that facilitate connection are more important than
ever as we respond to the impact of Covid-19.

FEELING GOOD
In Doncaster it is estimated that 55,000 people in the borough experience some
form of mental health problem (Doncaster HWB Strategy). We also know that
people with experience of mental health problems have been more likely to see
their mental health worsen as a result of coronavirus restrictions (Mind). History,
Health and Happiness is working to improve people’s mental health scores in
our activities by fostering a greater sense of belonging, as well as improving
confidence, and optimism about the future. Our activities can be part of someone’s
programme of recovery, as well as a way to maintain good mental health.

FEELING PROUD
Looking at Doncaster’s history means we can start to see the town differently,
appreciating its past and stories. A sense of belonging can bring communities
together, reducing differences in social and cultural identities. A sense of place is
also important in fostering community pride and creating a Doncaster that people
can be proud of. During the pandemic roughly half of the public say they have
volunteered to help others in their community (Health Foundation/IPSOS Mori,
Nov 2020). Community spirit “made a comeback” in 2020, and History, Health and
Happiness seeks to capitalise on this.

FEELING SKILLED
Our programmes encourage people to develop their confidence and encourage
participants to gain new skills. Wellbeing is a key influencer on the economy
(Centre for Economics and Business Return) and people who are stronger,
healthier and happy are better workers. One of the biggest skills learnt in 2020
for many was digital literacy. Twenty people got online, some for the first time, to
access History, Health and Happiness’s Digital Social Clubs and stay connected.

5•

Hazel is in her mid-50s, and lives in a pit
village in Doncaster. She is very interested
in arts and crafts and joined both the
Museum Make-A-Long and History Book
Club in the summer of 2020.

Hazel’s
story

Image: The Museum Make-A-Long, Heritage Doncaster

I was feeling very, very alone, depressed and isolated. Just hopeless, really. I was
shielding and it was very difficult to know that you couldn’t go out, and that people
couldn’t come to visit. My grandchildren still had birthdays, and my birthday and Mother’s
Day also passed by. I don’t consider myself to be a good mixer, but when I saw the digital
clubs advertised I thought it might be an interesting way of meeting other people. I love
history, and I thought hearing other people talking and joining in would be good for me.

Being part of the clubs gave me something to look forward to. I was able to
talk to others in the same situation as me, who were also shielding. In the group I feel
comfortable talking and sharing as they are really laid back. If the group had been in
person in a room I wouldn’t have said a word! Being online has given me the confidence
to say what I think and join in. I think that I would also be able to meet up with the group
now in the future. Other groups I’ve been part of in the past I’ve ended up dropping out
because of the pressure of getting out of the house and meeting new people.

Taking part in the groups has opened so many new horizons for me. The
History Book Club has encouraged me to read more and read different things. I’ve
also learnt about the origins of different crafts in the craft group, and found out about
important people that came from Doncaster. I’ve also been able to share my skills with
other people, teaching wool crafts, which is really nice. I never thought I’d look
Page 96

forward to something as much as I do these groups.

•

6•

•

Page 97

Creative
Mindfulness

7•

SPEND 5 MINUTES LOOKING AT THIS PAINTING

A T A S T E R O F H I S T O R Y,
H E A LT H A N D H A P P I N E S S ’ S
ACTIVITY PACKS

Activity Packs

Spend 5 minutes looking at this painting...

In 2020/21 History, Health and Happiness created activity
booklets for isolated adults and families. Over 6500 activity
booklets were sent to individuals and groups across
Doncaster. Packs were also distributed by third party
organisations, food banks and our partner organisations.
Here's a taster of what they included.

Make it Snappy!
A snap tin was a miners lunch box. The term relates to the way these
small boxes snapped shut to keep the contents as clean as possible
from the dirt and grit. Miners were limited as to what food they could
take underground because it was mucky and hot and this meant
many types of food would go off quickly and could easily get soiled.
Probably the most common and popular lunch for a miner was a jam
sandwich.

Food for Thought

What was in your lunch box?

Spend 5 minutes
looking
at this
Hilda's Warning:
'Mind you're
in by painting...
half-past seven, it's bath night','
Brumfitt, George Edward (1917–1993) Image: Heritage Doncaster

What is the first thing that you see?

What is happening in this painting?

If you could take one item of food in a small snap tin
what would you take?

What’s your dream sandwich?

If you could have a chat with someone over lunch who
would you pick? What would you talk about?

Step into the scene. What can you smell, hear and taste? Can you hear the stove
roaring? Can you smell the coal burning? Can you feel the uneven cold stone slabs
beneath your feet? Is the room warm or cold? How does the room make you feel?

Hilda's Warning: 'Mind you're in by half-past seven, it's bath night','

Hilda’s Warning: ‘Mind you’re in by half-past seven, it’s bath night’,’
Brumfitt, George Edward (1917–1993)
Image: Heritage Doncaster

•

Steve’s
story

Steve is in his sixties and retired in 2018.
During the Covid-19 pandemic he has
returned to work for the NHS. He joined the
History Book Club in September 2020.

I’m interested in learning, finding out new things and exploring new ideas. The History Book
Club was the opportunity to join up with people, albeit in a virtual capacity, to maintain contact
because we’d lost a lot of face-to-face contact due to Covid. It was a chance to keep my mind
going and it was also a chance to find out and learn more. I’d never been part of an online group
before and I didn’t really know what to expect, but I found that it was enjoyable right from the
start. It’s a cheerful and friendly experience and something I look forward to. It’s just
like chatting in a pub- a virtual pub!
The people are very easy to get on with, and they’re a good mix of people. From Dave in his
seventies, to Emily in her 20s! The group members tend to bring their own bits of information

Image: The History Book Club, Heritage Doncaster

into the sessions too, whether it’s family history or personal
interest. That aspect adds another layer. We look at a topic
which is fairly broad, like the Industrial Revolution, and then
we look at how that’s impacted Doncaster, and then you get
people chipping in with their own comments and experiences
too. I’ve found that really interesting. Everyone in the group

is really welcoming, and you can share your thoughts
and opinions really openly.
I’ve really learned a lot. I’m in my sixties, but you never stop
learning if you’ve got the opportunity to! I’ve gained a lot more
understanding of Doncaster through this group. There’s a lot
to be proud of about Doncaster and its history. It’s certainly
made me appreciate where I live more than I did previously.
The History Book Club has also opened up a new adventure
in reading for me - using Kindles! I come away from every
session thinking, “Well, I know more things now than I

did an hour and a half ago!”.

8•

Page 98

•

Page 99

Responding
to Covid-19

9•

ACTIVITY PACKS
History, Health and Happiness sent monthly activity packs to those who may be
feeling isolated- totalling over 6500 sent to date!

The lockdown restrictions announced in March 2020 in response to the Covid-19
pandemic meant that History, Health and Happiness had to change its approach
to tackling isolation and facilitating opportunities for connection.
History, Health and Happiness also recognised the importance of continuing
to support those who accessed our programming, and the charities and
organisations we partner with.
We responded quickly with two main methods:
1) Offline activity bundles
2) Online social activities
We recognised the need for both approaches, as we understood digital exclusion
to be a driver of social isolation during the pandemic (Local Government
Association, 2020). Many of our participants didn’t have reliable access to the
internet, or found it to be a source of anxiety. Research for the Centre for Ageing
Better and Good Things Foundation found that digital exclusion is closely related
to social exclusion and inequality. This means that the people most at risk of
feeling lonely are also the most likely to be digitally excluded, and vice versa.

The activity packs for adults were distributed via existing partner organisations, like
b:friend, as well as new ones like Doncaster Mind and Age UK. We also sent packs
to food banks, care homes and neighbourhood support groups. At Christmas we put
together special festive bundles for 700 of Doncaster’s isolated residents.
Two family packs were created and sent to families across the Borough, as well as
a unique pack for 50 of Doncaster’s young carers. Arc Research/Sheffield Hallam
University say that, “the receipt of something on the doorstep allowed

engagement and the prospect of something to do for those shielding
or isolating.” Interviews with those who received the packs revealed that they
were valued too.
We also partnered with Right Up Our Street and the Beare Project to deliver the
People’s Palace of Possibility – an immersive creative experience.

Providing opportunities for connection was vitally important, as more and more
of Doncaster’s residents were experiencing isolation as a result of lockdown,
social distancing and shielding. Mental health also took a big hit, with more than
half of adults and over two thirds of young people saying their mental health got
worse in the first lockdown in 2020 (Mind).
In May 2021 we were delighted to be shortlisted for the Community Impact
Award at the Museums + Heritage Awards in recognition of the impact our
work had in the community. Our programme manager, Victoria Ryves, was also
nominated for the COVID Special Recognition Award.
Image: Packing Christmas Activity Packs, Heritage Doncaster

•

What
people
say

10 •

“The packs have been really
interesting. They have kept me going.
I haven’t been out since March”

Reported to Age UK

“They are
really nice
. It
felt like a g
ift.”

ut
p
l
l
e
w
y
l
l
a
e
ht
r
g
e
u
r
o
a
h
“They r, a lot of t I really
.
e
h
m
t
e
e
h
g
t
to
o
t
n
i
e
.”
n
o
m
g
e
h
s
t
ha
g
n
i
d
a
e
r
enjoy

Reported to Mind
Reported to Age UK

Page 100

.
k
c
a
p
t
s
e
t
a
l
ur
o
y
r
o
f
u
o
y
k
“Than
t
h
g
i
l
f
o
s
r
u
o
h
w
e
f
a
t
h
g
u
o
r
It b
.”
s
e
m
i
t
g
n
i
y
orr
w
e
s
e
h
t
n
i
f
relie

“Thank yo
u for the b
ooklets,
gifts, mem
ory stirrer
s and
giving me
time to thi
nk back.”

Postcard
Postcard

Image: History, Health and Happiness Activity Packs, Heritage Doncaster

•

Page 101

2020

D I G I TA L S O C I A L C L U B S
In 2020 History, Health and Happiness launched two new and innovative digital social
clubs- the Museum Make-A-Long and the History Book Club. Interviews conducted by
Arc Research and Sheffield Hallam University found that these online groups “reached
out to the vulnerable and built online communities.” The evaluation concludes
that “for those who attend the [digital social clubs] the impact of the

project has been considerable, both in terms of connection, mental health,
and increased confidence around computer use.” The History, Health and
Happiness team helped people to get online (some for the first time) so that they could
form new connections and friendships, improving their technical skills alongside their
knowledge of the local area.
Our pre-pandemic social clubs were built around objects from Heritage Doncaster’s
collections. Although we haven’t been able to physically hold the objects in 2020, the
objects have still been present. The evaluators note that “objects have become

woven into personal stories shared by the attendees at sessions. Being in
people’s homes means that objects can be brought and the co-production
element can happen within a session as everyone shares their object and
their story.”
The Digital Social Clubs have enabled participants to make new friends, develop skills
and improved the wellbeing of those who take part. Digital social club attendees have
a 20% increase in interest in new things - a contributing factor to increased mental
health scores.

Image: The History Book Club, Heritage Doncaster

11 •

•

What
people
say

12 •

“I’ve come a long way;
never thought I could
do this”
Museum Make-A-Long

“I’ve got n

r
o
f
t
u
o
n
;
e
h
e
c
b
r
a
y
l
M
n
o
e
c
e
n
v
i
’
I
s
“
s
t
i
s
i
v
l
a
t
i
”
p
g
s
n
o
i
h
o
g
e
m
t
p
e
k
s
’
t
i

ew friends

”

History Book Club
History Book Club

Page 102

y
m
n
o
e
v
i
l
I
e
s
u
a
c
e
B
“
e
s
n
e
s
a
t
l
e
f
e
v
’
I
,
n
w
o
”
g
n
i
g
n
o
l
e
of b

“A godsend for
mental health reaso
n

s”

Museum Make-A-Long
Museum Make-A-Long

Image: The History Book Club, Heritage Doncaster

•

Page 103

Marie’s
story

Marie is in her late-seventies and lives alone
in Doncaster. She joined the Museum MakeA-Long in summer 2020.

Image: The Museum Make-A-Long, Heritage Doncaster

When the lockdown started I felt like I was losing my spirit. When I read about the group, I
thought “you know, that’s for me!” My initial interest was the history side of it, but now I’m
enjoying the crafts that I’m doing. Once I joined the group I felt as though I had a sense of
belonging. I belong to something. I’ve got people that are exactly like me. Its somebody
listening to me, and me listening to them. I’ve met new people, and made new friends.
I’ve also been empowered, finding out that I can do things that I never thought I could do
before- like painting. I never thought I was artistic- but I am! It’s an achievement knowing
that I can do these things, and something I wouldn’t have done if it hadn’t have been for the
group. I can’t wait to sit down and do another painting. My daughter even put the Christmas
decorations I made on her tree, which made me so happy! Before I joined the group, I was
beginning to lose my sparkle. But my sparkle has come back- and that’s down to looking
forward to Tuesdays!

13 •

•

Herstory

A CASE STUDY
Herstory is a group for women in Denaby Main, formed in 2019. It is led by the
History, Health and Happiness team. Prior to the pandemic it met once a week
in a community library. A highlight for the group was a trip to London to visit the
Houses of Parliament in 2019. The group have also visited Cusworth Hall and
travelled to meet musician, Frank Turner.
Pre-Covid changes in participant’s experience were noted over time. These were:

11 %

rise in their sence of
belonging connectedness
with other people

23 %

rise in their feelings of
confidence

Image: Herstory meeting Frank Turner, March 2020, Heritage Doncaster

7%

rise in an
interest in the past

11 %

rise in
reported happiness

Many of the Herstory participants share that their mental health has improved
whilst being a member of the group. One participant said: ‘‘It has improved

our mental health - on the worst days you still want to go doing activities takes your mind off it - there is no judgement or
bickering.’’ During a focus group session in 2020 one member of the group

was able to identify increased confidence and improved mental health in another
member, revealing that the group’s impact is really visible.

Page 104

During the Covid-19 pandemic the group has moved online. A core group of
around 6 women have continued to meet in this way, often using their phones
to connect. Access to the internet, childcare, and home-schooling have been a
barrier to some. The group continuing virtually was important for the participants.
It has been described by the women involved, some of whom have suffered
bereavement, as a lifeline during the pandemic.
Particularly during the earlier part of the pandemic, the group was an opportunity
to share, and receive and give support. The sessions were a chance to get in
touch, and share experiences.

In the virtual sessions- the museum objects have been missed- “online we can’t touch stuff”. Several
of the participants have also donated objects related to Covid-19 to the museum collection- making
history themselves! The groups will be returning to in-person sessions in 2021.
Overall, Herstory has had an impact in terms of improving confidence and connectedness. The women
involved are engaged, confident, and engaging outside of the sessions too. We can’t wait to get back to
meeting in person!

I’ve gained an appreciation for strong
independent women that have gone
before us.
NOTE: This case study is based on WEBWBS data collected pre-pandemic, an ethnogoraphic study, facilitator diaries and a focus group
conducted online by Arc Research and Consultancy Ltd/Sheffield Hallam University.

14 •

Image: Doncaster Local Studies Library
•

15 •

Page 105

Creative
Mindfulness

A T A S T E R O F H I S T O R Y,
H E A LT H A N D H A P P I N E S S ’ S
ACTIVITY PACKS

Activity Pack Taster

Memories: Hodgson & Hepworth

SHOPPING IN 1960S DONCASTER- A TRIP DOWN MEMORY LANE

Hodgson and Hepworth was a firm
favourite with shoppers in the town centre
for many years. A large food emporium,
chemist and cafe, the family run business
even ran its own bus service into town.

The Sixties was a time of economic growth, high employment and rising
disposable incomes and this meant a thriving high-street, largely made up of
flourishing small businesses and independent shops. Many Doncaster residents
will have fond memories of going in to town and shopping during this decade.

Do you
remember
Hodgson and
Hepworth?
Hodgson and Hepworth also held
functions in their cafe, as we can see from
this menu for a Dinner Dance in 1962.
Shoppers and staff were all very sad to
see the closure of the store in 1979 - the
end of an era for Doncaster.

Image: Doncaster Local Studies Library

A menu to remember
Images: Doncaster Local Studies LIbrary

These are photographs of Doncaster town centre taken in 1961. Take a
look at these images and think about the following questions:
1. Are any of these shops familiar to you? Do you remember shopping at
these shops?
_______________________________________________
_______________________________________________
_______________________________________________
_______________________________________________
2. Can you remember what you bought?
______________________________________________
______________________________________________
______________________________________________
______________________________________________

The taste and smell of food can really make us think back to a certain time
and place - particularly our childhood. Can you remember any favourites
from your childhood? Or maybe you can remember dinners you used to
cook for family and friends? Use the space below to write a 'Menu to
Remember' - what food will you choose, and what does it remind you of?

food

memories

•

What
we have
achieved

ISOLATION

215
700+

H E A LT H & W E L L B E I N G
Digital social club attendees have a

20 %
increase in interest in new things*

23

adults were referred into
activities by Doncaster
Social Prescribing

SENSE OF PLACE

72 % *
of participants found out about
places near to them

16 •

82 %

+6500

interactions in
digital social clubs

Christmas bundles
sent to isolated
adults in Doncaster

4

SKILLS

Page 106

91 %

of participants learned something new*

91 %

of participants shared their skills, memories or experiences*

83 %

of participants became interested in trying other activities*

45
2

50

of participants talked
to people outside of
their age group*

activity bundles sent to
Doncaster’s young carers

2
450
65
650+

shortlisted for 2 Museum + Heritage
Award for Community Impact and
COVID Special Recognition

OTHER

new partnerships with
organisations

100 %

of participants met
someone new*

of participants made someone
else feel welcome*

activity packs sent to isolated
adults and families across
Doncaster

individuals and groups loaned
items for the Museum of You
‘Story of 2020’ exhibition

online exhibitions

53.5

hours of online social sessions
- that’s as long as 92 of Boris
Johnson’s Covid-19 briefings!

cups of tea sent by mail

museum objects used as
inspiration in digital social clubs

stamps used to mail out activity
bundles across Doncasterthat’s just about the length of
the Mallard!

NOTE: The data is taken from quantitative methods (a Wellbeing scale and adapted WEBWBS), as well as qualitative data including facilitator diaries, session
records and case studies. The data was analysed by Arc Research and Consultancy Ltd/Sheffield Hallam University. The data covers the period 1st April 2020
until 31st March 2021. * Based on those who completed WEBWBS as a Digital Social Club member

•

Page 107

What else
we’ve been
up to

17 •

CHANGING THE RECORD
In autumn 2020 History, Health and Happiness launched Changing the
Record. Changing the Record is a community research programme that
aims to shine a light on and uncover stories that are underrepresented
in Heritage Doncaster’s collection and the history books. 12 community
researchers are working to uncover and share new stories. These include
stories of Doncaster’s Black history, LGBTQIA+ history, the stories of
women, the stories of disability and much more. The research findings will
be showcased in an exhibition in 2021, as well as supplementing Museum
catalogue records.

EXHIBITIONS & OBJECTS

Image: Black Lives Matter protest banner, Heritage Doncaster

The History, Health and Happiness team sought to continue to co-curate and collect
community stories in 2020. In April 2020, they launched the Living Room Museum,
encouraging people to curate their own museums at home. The team also worked
with Doncaster Conversation Club to mark Refugee Week 2020, and with Second
Generation (2G) to share an online exhibition to complement their exhibition sharing
memories of the sons and daughters of the Windrush generation at the Frenchgate
Shopping Centre

Image: Kiera Rusling’s Living Room Museum

The team also worked to collect objects that told the story of community in
2020. These objects will be displayed in the Museum of You case when the
Danum Gallery, Library and Museum opens. They also form an online exhibition.
Image: Women Against Pit Closures badge, Heritage Doncaster

Image: Second Generations’ The Way We Were exhibition at Frenchgate Shopping Centre
•

18 •

MOVING MUSEUM
2021 will see the launch of Heritage Doncaster’s Moving Museum.
The Moving Museum is a travelling museum that will bring Heritage
Doncaster’s collections to places near you! The really exciting part though
is that individuals and groups across the borough will be invited to be
curators- the exhibitions will be shaped by you!

L O O K I N G A F T E R O U R S E LV E S
SO WE CAN LOOK AFTER YOU
Image: James Mulkeen

Page 108

Image: The History, Health and Happiness team. Heritage Doncaster

In 2020, the History, Health and Happiness team have examined the
impact that delivering culture and wellbeing projects can have on its
staff. The pandemic shone a spotlight on some of the emotional labour
involved in delivering the programme. It also really emphasised how
important it was to look after the mental health and resilience of the team,
so that they are best able to support the wellbeing of our participants.
The History, Health and Happiness programme is working towards

creating a culture of care. The culture of care focusses on building in
time for reflection, as well as moments of joy, for the History, Health and
Happiness staff. Building in team wellbeing into the History, Health and
Happiness programme ensures that we are fostering a culture of care that
feeds back into the experience of the participant. Ultimately, staff that are
feeling nourished, and supported, deliver activities that our nourishing and
supportive to our participants. It creates a cycle of care.

•

Page 109

We
need
you
JOIN US!
Fancy joining any of our social clubs or activities?
You can get involved by emailing YourMemories@doncaster.gov.uk or
calling 01302 737339.

GETTING THE WORD OUT
We also have tips on building partnerships, co-production
and wellbeing that we’d love to share! We also want as many
people as possible to know about the History, Health and
Happiness programme of work, and for as many people as
possible to be able to attend our activities. We need your help
in getting the word out!

H E R I TA G E D O N C A S T E R ’ S CO M M U N I T Y A DV I S O R Y P A N E L
Like the sound of what we are doing? Do you have new ideas
or suggestions for change? Then join Heritage Doncaster’s
Community Advisory Panel to shape the activities, programming
and vision of Heritage Doncaster.
PARTNERSHIPS TO MAKE DONCASTER A HAPPIER PL ACE
The period of recovery in the aftermath of the pandemic will rely
on working together and community spirit. We want to work with
new organisations and groups in Doncaster. We are seeking new
partnerships so that we can continue to make a difference in
communities on a really hyper-local level. We also want to work with
more third sector organisations and providers, and facilitate others to
be able to share history, and co-produce and co-design activities. We
want to hear from new organisations, freelancers, and Council teams
who are interested in working together. We are particularly keen to
work with people from protected characteristic backgrounds.

If you have any questions or would like more information,
please contact Victoria on
yourmemories@doncaster.gov.uk
01302 737339

You can find out more at
www.heritagedoncaster.org.uk/projec ts /happyhistor y/

19 •

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 13
Doncaster
Health and Wellbeing Board
Date: 11 November 2021
Subject:
Presented by:

Better Care Fund Update 2021/22
Dr Rupert Suckling

Purpose of bringing this report to the Board
Decision
Recommendation to Full Council
Endorsement

x

Information

x

Implications

Applicable Yes/No

DHW Strategy Areas of Focus

Substance Misuse (Drugs and Alcohol)
Mental Health

x

Dementia

x

Obesity

x

Children and Families
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
Finance
Legal

x
x
x

Equalities
Other Implications (please list)

x
x

How will this contribute to improving health and wellbeing in Doncaster?
The purpose of this presentation is to provide an update on the development of the Doncaster Better
Care Fund 2021-22.
Recommendations
The Board is asked to:

Comment on the draft Doncaster BCF Plan for 2021-22.



Confirm sign-off arrangements for the final plan, pending feedback from regional assurance on
11 November 2021 for submission by the deadline of 16 November 2021.

Page 111



Note that a Section 75 Agreement has already been produced for this financial year; relevant
annexes will be updated to include details of the new national conditions and metrics.



Review progress of Doncaster’s BCF plan for 2021-22 and evaluation of schemes at future
meetings.

Page 112

Report
____________________________________________________________________
Agenda Item No. 13
Date: 11 November 2021

To the Chair and Members of the
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
BETTER CARE FUND (BCF) 2021-22 Draft Plan

Relevant Cabinet
Member(s)
Cllr Rachael Blake

Wards Affected

Key Decision

All

No

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 Final sign-off of the Better Care Fund (BCF) Plan and subsequent quarterly
statutory return is the responsibility of the Health and Wellbeing Board.
Feedback from the Board is required on Doncaster’s draft plan for the use of
the BCF in 2021-22. The BCF Planning Requirements and Financial
Allocations for 2021-22 were issued by NHS England and NHS Improvement
on 30 September 2021 with a deadline for submission of 16 November, 2021.
BCF planning and reporting incorporates the Improved Better Care Fund
(iBCF).
1.2 The financial allocations for Doncaster are as follows:
Funding source
£
Disabled Facilities Grant
2,782,137
Minimum Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) Contribution 25,972,737
iBCF
15,830,812
Total 44,585,686
The minimum required to be spent from the CCG Contribution is:
NHS Commissioned Out of Hospital Spend from the
minimum CCG allocation
Adult Social Care services spend from the minimum CCG
allocations
www.doncaster.gov.uk

Page 113

7,380,716
8,575,547

1.3

The BCF four national conditions and four metrics have changed (See 5.2,
5.3). The requirements of the planning process have focused on continuity
in 2021-22, while enabling areas to agree plans for integrated care that
support recovery from the pandemic and build on strategic working.
BCF plans should include stretching ambitions for improving outcomes
against the national metrics for the fund and these ambitions, should align to
local NHS trust plans to reduce the number of inpatients who have been in
hospital for 21 days or over, and should be developed with hospital trusts.

1.4

Submission Timetable
BCF planning requirements published
BCF draft planning submission submitted to Better Care
Manager
Receive informal pre-submission feedback from
Regional Assurance Panel
Final BCF from HWB to be sent to the local Better Care
Manager and cc’d to National Team for NHS England
Scrutiny of BCF plans by regional assurers, assurance
panel meetings and regional moderation
Cross-regional calibration
Approval letters issued giving formal permission to
spend (CCG minimum
All Section 75 agreements to be signed and in place

30 Sep 2021
By 19 Oct
2021
By 2 Nov 2021
16 Nov 2021
16 Nov to 7
Dec 2021
9 Dec 2021
From 11 Jan
2022
31 Jan 2022

The submission of Doncaster’s BCF plan is being overseen by members of
the Joint Commissioning Operational Group (JCOG).
1.5

Doncaster BCF Plan
Given the delay in funding announcements, the majority of existing schemes
have been rolled over into 2021-22 with an uplift for inflation where
appropriate. The final plan is required to be submitted to NHS England on a
spreadsheet template with supporting narrative, however, for ease of review
and comment, the key information has been extracted and attached as
appendices:
Appendix 1: Draft Strategic Narrative and Impacts on metrics
Appendix 2: Financial Summary detailing the budget plan for Doncaster
Council and Doncaster CCG for BCF, iBCF and DfG.

EXEMPT REPORT
2.

The report does not contain any exempt information.

RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1

That the Health and Wellbeing Board comments on the draft Doncaster BCF
Plan for 2021-22.

3.2

That the Board confirms sign-off arrangements for the final plan, pending
feedback from regional assurance on 11 November 2021 for submission by
the deadline of 16 November 2021.

Page 114

3.3

That the Board notes that a Section 75 Agreement has already been
produced for this financial year; relevant annexes will be updated to include
details of the new national conditions and metrics.

3.4

That the Board reviews progress of Doncaster’s BCF plan for 2021-22 and
evaluation of schemes at future meetings.

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER?
4.

The BCF is a programme spanning both the NHS and local government to
improve the lives of some of the most vulnerable people in our society,
placing them at the centre of their care and support, and providing then with
‘wrap around’ fully integrated health and social care, resulting in an
improved experience and better quality of life.

BACKGROUND
5.1

The BCF is a single pooled budget for health and social care services to
work strategically in local areas, based on a plan agreed between the NHS
and local authority which is then signed off by the Health and Wellbeing
Board. The BCF comprises a substantial level of funding in order to support
health and social care integration.

5.2

The BCF Policy Framework sets out four national conditions that all BCF
plans must meet to be approved; these are:
1. A jointly agreed plan between local health and social care commissioners
and signed off by the Health and Wellbeing Board;
2. NHS contribution to adult social care to be maintained in line with the
uplift to CCG minimum contribution;
3. Invest in NHS commissioned out-of-hospital services.
4. Plan for improving outcomes for people being discharged from Hospital.

5.3

There are four key BCF national indicators which must be monitored and
these are:
1. Effectiveness of reablement (proportion of older people, aged 65 and
over who were still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into
reablement or rehabilitation)
2. Long term support needs of older people (aged 65 and over) met by
admission to residential and nursing care homes, per 100,000
population.
3. Reduction in the number of avoidable admissions (unplanned
hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions)
4. Discharge Indicator Set

5.4

Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) is for adult social care and is for
meeting adult social care needs, reducing pressures on the NHS (including
supporting discharge from hospital) and ensuring the local social care
provider market is supported.

5.5

Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) is a means tested financial grant to pay for
essential housing adaptations to help disabled people stay in their own
homes. DFG can be used to take a joined-up approach to improving
outcomes across health, social care and housing.

Page 115

5.6

Section 75 Agreement – There is an existing partnership framework
agreement between Doncaster Council and Doncaster CCG and this sets
out the terms to maintain pooled funds relating to BCF and iBCF. The
agreement will be updated to confirm the local BCF plan and changes to
the national conditions and metrics.

OPTIONS CONSIDERED
6.

The delay in issuing national planning guidance and confirming funding
allocations has meant that there is little alternative to continuing existing
schemes in 2021-22.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION
7.

The limited timescales available to work partners and the notice period that
would be required to end contracts.

IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES
8.
Outcomes
Doncaster Working: Our vision is for
more people to be able to pursue their
ambitions through work that gives
them and Doncaster a brighter and
prosperous future;

Implications
BCF supports the Well
Doncaster project, which
supports people into
employment.

 Better access to good fulfilling work
 Doncaster businesses are
supported to flourish
 Inward Investment
Doncaster Living: Our vision is for
Doncaster’s people to live in a
borough that is vibrant and full of
opportunity, where people enjoy
spending time;

BCF programmes of work
including winter warmth, the
Amber Project and Complex
Lives support the living well
vision.

 The town centres are the beating
heart of Doncaster
 More people can live in a good
quality, affordable home
 Healthy and Vibrant Communities
through Physical Activity and Sport
 Everyone takes responsibility for
keeping Doncaster Clean
 Building on our cultural, artistic and
sporting heritage
Doncaster Learning: Our vision is for
learning that prepares all children,
young people and adults for a life that

BCF supports projects to deliver
the outcomes identified in the
Doncaster Place Plan for Children

Page 116

is fulfilling;

and Young People; an example of
such a project is 1001 days.

 Every child has life-changing
learning experiences within and
beyond school
 Many more great teachers work in
Doncaster Schools that are good or
better
 Learning in Doncaster prepares
young people for the world of work
Doncaster Caring: Our vision is for a
borough that cares together for its
most vulnerable residents;
 Children have the best start in life
 Vulnerable families and individuals
have support from someone they
trust
 Older people can live well and
independently in their own homes

Connected Council:
 A modern, efficient and flexible
workforce
 Modern, accessible customer
interactions
 Operating within our resources and
delivering value for money
 A co-ordinated, whole person,
whole life focus on the needs and
aspirations of residents
 Building community resilience and
self-reliance by connecting
community assets and strengths
 Working with our partners and
residents to provide effective
leadership and governance

BCF supports projects to deliver
the outcomes identified in the
Doncaster Place Plan. Examples
of work includes the Carers
Innovation Fund and a range of
programmes to support the
discharge pathways.

BCF supports projects to build
community resilience and the
localities model of working.
BCF is a key resource to enable
health and social care integration
and transformation of current
services.

RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS
9.1

Page 117

Funding beyond 2021/22
The Better Care Fund is a significant financial resource which enables
health and social care integration and transformation of current services.
Central government has made it clear that the funding shall be available
long-term and BCF plays a substantial part in the move towards the new
integrated care system. The delay in announcements this year and
uncertainty about 2021-22 onwards means that it is extremely difficult to

plan ahead. General budget planning for 2022-23 is already underway and
assumptions are being made on the basis of having the same level of
funding. Contracts at risk of coming to an end over the next two years have
been reviewed and re-procurement exercises or where necessary, strategic
reviews or de-commissioning has already started to take place and this will
inform budget setting from 2022-23.
9.2

Performance
BCF is for integration and transformation. Whilst there is uncertainty around
funding, there is a risk that integration across the system does not progress
or mature at the pace required. As a result, there is a risk that the
performance against the four BCF metrics does not meet the targets set.
This would bring greater scrutiny of Doncaster’s BCF plan.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials NJD Date…3rd November 2021]
10.

Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 provides the Council with a general
power of competence, allowing the Council to do anything that individuals
generally may do.
The Care Act 2014 places a number of duties to promote an individual’s
wellbeing, ensuring that care and support provision is integrated together
with other health provision.
Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 makes provision for payments to be made
between the Council and CCG by entering into a Section 75 Agreement.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials……HR… Date……28/10/2021…..]
11.

Doncaster Council and Doncaster CCG have been allocated a total budget
of £44.59m which forms the pooled budget arrangement covered under the
Section 75 agreement. The breakdown of the funding streams are shown in
para 1.2. The spending plan for this arrangement is shown in Appendix 2
and demonstrates spend against the Better Care Fund scheme headings
prescribed under funding guidance.
Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) and Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) are
paid to local authorities with a condition that they are pooled locally into the
BCF and spent on specific purposes set out in the grant determinations and
conditions. Disable Facilities Grant is a ring-fenced capital grant and is
included in the council’s capital programme.
The three funding streams forming the pooled budget arrangement are
subject to quarterly and year end reporting as set out in the conditions of the
funding.

HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS
12.

None received.

TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials…PW… Date……28/10/2021…..]
13.

There are no specific technology implications in relation to this report. Any
technology requirements to support the delivery of the BCF Plan should be
Page 118

discussed at the earliest opportunity with Digital and ICT, with a further
report for consideration by the Technology Governance Board (TGB), where
applicable.
HEALTH IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials……RS……..Date …27/10/2021……]
14.

The Better Care Fund is a national health and care policy designed to
improve outcomes for people who would benefit from integrated care.
There are no additional health implications.

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials SC……… Date 02/11/2021…..]
15.

Decision makers must consider the council’s duties under the Public Sector
Equality Duty of S149 of the Equality Act (2010). The duty requires the
public sector such as the council and NHS, when exercising its functions, to
have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate discrimination, harassment and
victimisation and other conduct prohibited under the act, and to advance
equality of opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a
‘protected characteristic’ and those who do not share it.
The BCF programme of work spans both the NHS and local government to
deliver the integration of health and social care in a way that supports
person-centred care, sustainability and better outcomes for carers and some
of the most vulnerable and marginalised groups of people in our society,
resulting in an improved experience and better quality of life. Each
programme of work is assessed for equality implications, therefore an
overall equality impact analysis / assessment is not required for this report.

CONSULTATION
16.

The annual return and narrative has been fed through to JCOG and JCMB.
Initial feedback has also been received from the Regional Better Care Fund
Manager.

BACKGROUND PAPERS
17.

N/A

REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS
Stacey Chaplin, Senior Policy Insight and Change Manager
Stacey.chaplin@doncaster.gov.uk
Contributors: Joint Commissioning Operational Group representatives from
commissioning and finance from Doncaster Council –Mark Wakefield, Helen
Rowlands and NHS Doncaster CCG – Jon Briggs and Tracy Wyatt
Lead Officer
Dr Rupert Suckling, Director of Public Health

Page 119

Appendix 1: BCF Narrative assurance text to support BCF annual
submission

Draft BCF Narrative Plan to support
the agreed spending plans and
ambitions for BCF national metrics

Page 120

Overview
Local areas need to submit narrative plans for the Better Care Fund (BCF). These plans should
complement the agreed spending plans and ambitions for BCF national metrics in the Doncaster
System BCF Planning Template
The submission of the Doncaster BCF plan is to be overseen by members of the Joint
Commissioning Operational Group (JCOG).
The Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) will need to agree a separate excel planning template, a
narrative plan, where this reflects local arrangements for integrated working. Each HWB covered
by the plan will need to agree the narrative as well as their excel planning template.
Key deadlines:
BCF draft planning submission submitted to Better Care Manager
(feedback received and narrative updated, however the narrative must
be agreed and owned by all involved in the system)

By 19 Oct 2021

Draft narrative plan circulated to JCOG members in advance of meeting

By 21 Oct 2021

JCOG to scrutinise content of draft narrative plan and make
recommendations for change

26 Oct 2021

Receive informal pre-submission feedback from Regional Assurance
Panel

By 2 Nov 2021

Report to be circulated to member of AHWB

By 4 Nov 2021

AHWB to agree content of spending plan and narrative

11 Nov 2021

Final BCF from HWB to be sent to the local Better Care Manager and cc’d
to National Team for NHS England

16 Nov 2021

Scrutiny of BCF plans by regional assurers, assurance panel meetings and
regional moderation

16 Nov to 7 Dec
2021

Cross-regional calibration

9 Dec 2021

Approval letters issued giving formal permission to spend (CCG minimum

From 11 Jan 2022

All Section 75 agreements to be signed and in place

31 Jan 2022

Page 121

Contents
1. Doncaster Council Health and Wellbeing Board .............................................................................. 11
2. Executive Summary .......................................................................................................................... 13
3. Governance ...................................................................................................................................... 16
4. A description of the Doncaster systems overall approach to integration........................................ 17
5. A description of how the Doncaster system supports discharge (National Condition Four) ........... 22
6. Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) and wider services .......................................................................... 23
7. Equality and Health Inequalities ....................................................................................................... 26

Page 122

1. Doncaster Council Health and Wellbeing Board
Provide a description of how the Health and Wellbeing board has involved stakeholders such as
NHS Trusts, social care provider representatives, VCS organisations and other bodies when
preparing the overall BCF plan.
The Health and Wellbeing Board (bi-monthly) is the main forum where providers, Voluntary,
community and faith sector representatives and housing leads come together (also known as
Team Doncaster) to comment on the BCF Plan and carry out quarterly performance monitoring.
The Health and Wellbeing Board oversee an integrated outcomes framework, delivered through
Joint Commissioning and the Place Plan.
Over the past year, colleagues from Team Doncaster have worked closely with local partners such
as the Voluntary, Community Faith sector and our strategic alliance (NHS Trusts) to help build
insights in to the needs of our local population and in doing so have developed a number of
dedicated products that help ‘tell the story’ for each of our localities. Some of these products
include:
•

Local Community Intelligence

•

COVID-19 Cases Dashboard –Number of Cases by Age/Gender

•

COVID-19 Surveillance Dashboard – Mapping tool to support distribution of cases

•

Domestic Abuse Dashboard – number, characteristics and geography of incidents

•

Community Tensions Report – localised understanding of specific incidents in localities

•

Specific Deep Dives –e.g. furlough information by geography

•

Population Dashboard – deprivation, population, birth rate and death rates by geography.

•

Specific intelligence work to support those that are on the Clinically Extremely Vulnerable
(CEV) list.

Building these products and developing insights into locality need have been completed through
collaboration between agencies and partners, working to develop this intelligence together. The
philosophy has been to build small initial insights and iterate, developing the products over times.
Specific focus has been on looking at what the data tells us (not just simply processing the data
reports) and using it to build intelligence. A crucial factor in this has been to blend the data with
local community intelligence where possible and it has been key to involve stakeholders through
events such as member workshops.
Ultimately, the intention is to use data-driven insights and evidence of best practice to inform
targeted interventions and to improve the health and wellbeing of specific populations, as well as
the places people live, work and visit. To help generate these insights, Team Doncaster have
developed a series of principles to underpin their approach which are:
-Make informed judgements, not just relying on the analytics.
-Prioritise the use of collective resources to have the best impact.
-Act together – the NHS, local authorities, public services, the VCS, communities, activists
& local people. Create partnerships of equals.
-Where appropriate, use academic insight to increase our understanding of people, place
and businesses.

Page 123

-Use consistent sets of data.
-Use existing data products wherever possible.
-Keep it simple, start small, and build incrementally.
-Focus on insight and the lived experience of people in the place.
-Try to understand why things happen not just describing what is happening.
-All partners agree to share information in a timely manner.
-Linked eventually to emerging Borough Strategy Wellbeing goals.
-Look to integrate data and use integrated data sets wherever possible.
-Recognise the established vision for communities e.g. parish plan / neighbourhood plan
etc.
The information has supported with the market position statement. Using the asset based
community approach, assets have been mapped to enable signposting in the community and
through application of the strengths-based model of working we have been able to set local
priorities for central, south, east and north localities.

Page 124

2. Executive Summary
Description of the priorities for 2021-22
Our future approach will utilise a population health management approach to identify need. It will
be focussed on working with our provider collaborative to ensure longer term outcomes as
opposed to shorter term metrics.
When considering the Marmot Indicators and the Public Health England outcomes available on
fingertips, the key areas of focus are predominantly focussed on healthy life expectancy and
general life expectancy. The systems seeks to commission projects and programmes of work that
support an increase in life expectancy at birth and a reduction of the number of mortality rates in
under 75’s. Doncaster in particular has higher than average rates for those under 75 that are also
statistically higher for conditions including, cancer, respiratory disease and cardiovascular disease.
By using the health profiles to generate insights (population health management approach), the
Doncaster priorities for 2021-22 will have a focus on:
-Heart Disease
-Lung Cancer
-Obesity, Diabetes and Substance misuse
-Dementia
We know that across Doncaster, the strength of our place-based activity and ensuring our work is
led by locality need has grown through the pandemic and we want to further accelerate this with
the strategic use of BCF Finance and resources.
Our intention is to work with our provider alliances to develop an approach and commission
activity that will support the critical areas of need across our community. In summary, a successful
approach will result in clear lines of communication with our community and a demonstrable link
between what our community are telling us and improved outcomes across those areas.
Our future approach is one that focusses on longer term outcomes for our local communities and
will not driven by shorter term concentration on metrics which follows the main steps:
1.
Generation of Data Driven Insights
Key to our approach will be the use of our available data and information to generate insights and
intelligence to inform commissioned activity. We will need to utilise qualitative and quantitative
information sources to help generate informed understanding of our community need. This will
take into account local data sources and nationally available information.
2.
Cross referenced and validated by our community
Imperative to our future commissioning activity will be listening to our community and ensuring
their voices are heard. Engagement with our communities will be essential to provide context to
our interpretation of the quantitative data and support the validation of local community need.

3.

Strategically commissioned services developed in partnership with our provider

alliances
We will work in partnership to agree funding for, and the planning of, dedicated services that will
address the identified priorities for our communities.
Effecting change and delivering against local need will require us to work in close partnership with
our Doncaster providers. We will need to ensure alignment between ourselves, as the

Page 125

commissioning body, and our colleagues who will be implementing and delivering services and
interventions.
4.
Effective monitoring of progress
We will work closely with our communities and service providers to monitor the impact of our
commissioned activity. In developing and progressing any commissioned activity, the intended
outcomes and longer-term impact of the proposed service or intervention will need to be clearly
articulated. These will likely be a combination of outcomes that can be supported by qualitative
and quantitative metrics and support us to hold ourselves to account and share learning.
5.
Improved outcomes
Ultimately, our intentions behind refreshing our approach are to ensure improved outcomes for
our communities. We want to use the BCF to effectively address some of the biggest challenges
and issues faced by our localities.

Key changes since the previous BCF Plan
In 2019, we refreshed our Doncaster Place Plan and highlighted our challenges relating to the
three key gaps:
1. Care and quality gap
2. Health and wellbeing gap
3. Finance and efficiency gap
We also highlighted that our vision remained unchanged, to ensure that care and support will be
tailored to community strengths to help Doncaster residents maximise their independence, health
and wellbeing and that Doncaster residents will have access to excellent community and hospital
based services.
Over recent months, the Covid-19 pandemic has impacted communities across the world and
Doncaster is no different. Across England, we have seen an exacerbation of the challenges we face
as a result of Covid-19 and the resilience measures we put in place.
Our ambitions post-covid remain unchanged; we want to continue to address and reduce health
inequality across Doncaster. Our approach to doing this will remain supported by key enablers
including:
•

Utilisation of a population health management approach

•

Developing our integrated neighbourhood teams

•

Enhancing asset based community development

•

Effective, coordinated access to health and social care

These enablers underpin our methodology for neighbourhood based care delivery and in
December 2020, we published a new “Team Doncaster” Framework for progressing and
developing this way of working (below)

Page 126

A new framework to support the
development of bottom - up
engagement and empowerment.
Includes supporting the growth of
grass roots and CVFS and
developing the role of local
elected members.

ABCD:
Engaged
Empowered
Communities

Integrated
Locality
Commissionin
g
A locality focused ‘system
commissioning’ model to support
coherent delivery at locality level
which is responsive to the
strengths & needs of local
communities.

Local
Solutions:
Preventive,
Integrated,
Local Delivery

An integrated locality process
and practice model that enables
front line workers to act together
in a locally responsive, relational,
whole family approach - across
people, place management and
economic development.

Central
Enablers
Central enablers to support and
drive locality working (data &
intelligence, performance
management, communications,
workforce development)

This approach is firmly grounded in our four layer model below:

The four-layer model was developed by the Doncaster partnership of the CCG and the Council with
input from the VCF sector. It is intended to enable integrated working and build upon existing local
partnerships and services to maximise impact.
It enables and supports starting well, living well and ageing well through effectively commissioning
for populations rather than services. These commissioning intentions run through each of the four
layers as shown.

Page 127

3. Governance
An outline of the governance for the BCF plan and its implementation in Doncaster

The Joint Commissioning Management Board oversees delivery of the Joint Commissioning
Strategy. Joint commissioning arrangements have been strengthened through a formal joint
commissioning agreement which sets out clear expectations, roles and responsibilities across the
whole system. A Provider Collaborative Agreement is also in place, and Providers are working
together overseen by the Provider Executive Group.
Management of the BCF is by the Joint Commissioning Management Board – JCMB – which meets
six-weekly. This group includes the Chief Executives and other senior officers of both DMBC and
NHS Doncaster CCG. JCMB oversees delivery of the Joint Commissioning Strategy (CCG, Public
Health, Children and Young People’s and Adult Social Care) which is a major enabler of joint
working. JCMB is supported by the Joint Commissioning Operational Group – JCOG - which
scrutinises all business case proposals and makes recommendations to JCMB. JCOG meetings are
held monthly. Joint meetings are held quarterly as described in the forward plan

Page 128

4. A description of the Doncaster systems overall approach to
integration
Our approach to integration and commissioning has been described in questions 1, 2 and 3. By
using the asset based community approach, assets have been mapped to enable signposting in the
community and through application of the strengths-based model of working (focusing on what’s
strong as opposed to what’s wrong) we have been able to set local priorities for central, south,
east and north localities.
All major health and social care stakeholders recognise that in order to transform services to the
degree required, a single shared vision and plan for the whole of Doncaster is necessary. This
shared vision of health and social care has been articulated in the Doncaster Place Plan:
“Care and support will be tailored to community strengths to help Doncaster residents
maximise their independence, health and wellbeing. Doncaster residents will have access
to excellent community and hospital based services when needed.”
The ambition of the Place Plan spans all ages - from maternity care to support for people in their
older years. A key focus of the plan is to ensure that a range of health and social care services
work well together at key transition points and events throughout people’s lives. This where good
collective, accessible, person centred work can manage risks and improve physical and mental
health as well as social and economic outcomes.
The Better Care Fund – BCF – is a key resource to enable health and social care integration and
transformation of current services. Since the last BCF Plan was developed, considerable work has
taken place across the Doncaster Health and Social Care Community to implement the vision for
integration.
The Doncaster Place Plan identifies seven areas of opportunity:
 Starting Well (1001 days)
 Vulnerable Adolescents (Tier 4 Specialist Services)
 Urgent and Emergency Care
 Complex Lives
 Intermediate Care
 Dermatology
 Learning Disability and Autism
These are organised in three life stages – Starting Well, Living Well and Ageing Well.
Significant progress has been made in two areas of opportunity in particular - Intermediate Care
and Complex Lives, both of which have been testing new approaches to multi-disciplinary teams
and integration of services. These approaches are being used as proof of concept to be replicated
in other areas. The longer term aim is that the models will be resourced through mainstream
public service budgets, in recognition of the reductions in acute demand and cost savings
produced. The BCF Plan for 2020-21 captures the learning from these projects to support the
transition into mainstream services and support wider integration.
There are a number of existing areas of opportunity originating from the original Place Plan that
will make a contribution to the emerging new model. The emphasis now is on bringing these into
alignment with each other to create a coherent whole neighbourhood-based system for adults.
These include:

Page 129





Intermediate care: short-term intensive and rehabilitative support to avoid unnecessary
admission to hospital (step-up) and to ensure people regain their health, wellbeing and
independence after a crisis (step-down)
Frailty new care model: a prototype helping to shape integrated neighbourhood delivery,
focused on people living with frailty and aiming to avoid or delay crisis though a more
anticipatory and proactive integrated approach. This will bring together physical and mental
health services for older people. The service is Mental Health led due to the number of
residents living with Dementia and mental health related conditions.

A cornerstone of the refreshed Place Plan will be the development of neighbourhood-based
health, care and wellbeing services and support, delivered as an all-age, integrated, personcentred model of care, dissolving professional and organisational boundaries. This will create a
coherent, joined up approach centred on local people and their communities. This aligns with
both the national ambitions set out in the NHS Long-term plan Implementation Framework and
Team Doncaster’s ‘Doncaster Growing Together’ local approach.
Person-centred outcomes
Doncaster has rolled out the strengths based model approaches across the health and social care
partnership.
The vision for Adult Social Care builds on the strengths-based working that we want to instil in
Doncaster.
Doncaster is trained in a strengths based approach, understand the principles of personalisation
and how these apply to their role. We will deliver, implement and embed a Practice Framework
which describes how strength based approaches will be used in Doncaster. The framework will
centre on Adult Social Care but will be used to influence practice across the Doncaster Place Plan.
The focus will be on practitioners working with people on the basis of what is strong, not what is
wrong. The approach operates on four levels:
 Individual level – working to help individuals and their families find solutions that build on
their strengths and assets and personalise care according to need;
 Service level - building flexible, empowering and responsive services that are delivered in
innovative ways;
 Community level - building and harnessing the strength of community organisations; delivery
of integrated care through multi-disciplinary teams;
 System level - working collaboratively with colleagues across health and social care in the
wider public, third and private sectors.
Prevention and self-care
Case Study: Well Doncaster
Over the last five years, Well Doncaster has added to the existing evidence base that working with
and empowering communities facilitates healthy communities.
Some of their defining characteristics include; a continued commitment to utilising communitycentred approaches in creating a community-led health and wealth approach, encouraging and
facilitating asset-based discussions with residents and ensuring communities are involved in
decision-making about where they live, work, play.
This past year, whilst most of their work has focussed on pandemic response and recovery efforts,
there have been some key programme developments for Well Doncaster which were developed
through a series of appreciate inquiries undertaken in the latter part of 2020.

Page 130

They have used these findings, alongside other engagement approaches, to identify priority areas
for 2021/22 and beyond. These include:
•

Support the VCFS to get back up and running safely by supporting the sector to have the
skills, capacity and resources to adapt, strengthen and grow.

•

Draw on our years of local experience in supporting internal and external partners in using
evidence based community centred approaches.

•

Commissioning will routinely support and foster community development and community
capacity building preventive grass roots level support – not just how activities are
commissioned but what activities are commissioned.

•

Pump prime collaboration in each locality to ignite innovation and creativity in developing
hyper-local support.

•

Utilise local intelligence and continue to have regular and meaningful conversations with
communities to ensure we are focusing on their priorities, that we understand what their
assets and strengths are and that we continue to build relationships of trust as we work
together in building vibrant, resilient communities across Doncaster.

Well Doncaster provides insights into the style and way of working we want to progress moving
forward. Their blueprint for appreciative inquiry and further learning from their work can be
applied to our future work with the BCF. More information on Well Doncaster can be found here

Assistive Technology
Assistive Technology champions have been trained, also workshops have been held and there is a
staff training module for all Doncaster Council employees on the various types of assistive
technology available. The’ Creative options for Learning Disability Service Users’ programme of
work is an example of a social care preventative scheme which has involved investment in
technology known as ‘Brain in Hand’. The technology supports young people and adults with
learning disabilities to improve choice, control and independence, enabling them to be much more
independent, reducing the need for health and care support. The programme is transformational
and is anticipated to create better quality provision that can support the diversion of admissions
from hospital settings and, provide a level of care that can enable individuals to leave hospital
sooner and reduce the amount of delayed transfers of care.
Health and Social care are looking at technology and virtual assessment at the front door to
support people requesting low-level equipment and adaptations. This will improve speed of access
to low-level equipment and will support the prevention/ delay/ delay of people accessing
services.
Schemes supporting this section:
Carers Support Services
End of life Domiciliary Care
Home Emergency Alarm Response Team
Telecare
Community Mobile Day Service
Affordable Warmth
Well Doncaster

Page 131

Joint Commissioning arrangements
Very positive work has been taking place for example:
-Joint lead appointed for Children and Young People; Integration of children and young people’s
commissioning teams agreed for three test areas; First 1001 Days, Vulnerable Adolescents;
Children with additional needs.
-Separate contracts for post-diagnostic Dementia support services brought together under one
contract. Providers have moved to a more collaborative approach through an Accountable Care
Partnership.
-Complex Lives - an innovative ‘whole system’ model for people affected by multiple disadvantage.
-Projects are working across numerous partners including Council, CCG, Health, Doncaster
Children’s Services Trust, Ambulance Service, Criminal Justice, VCF. Local intelligence is feeding
into commissioning intentions.

Neighbourhood approach
As described earlier in the narrative, the new operating model is set within the context of a
‘Team Doncaster’ whole partnership model of locality working. Doncaster is divided into four
neighbourhoods to enable services to be tailored to local needs and delivered locally. The
neighbourhoods are the basis of integrated services for many social care and health services.
Staff and service users are shaping how the service works best at a community level. The
neighbourhood approach gives a focus on the individual, family, friends, communities and
primary care with a shift to more prevention and early intervention.
Joint locality multi-disciplinary teams of professionals and non-professionals working together
from a single location have been established. Integrated neighbourhood developments have an
initial focus on frailty and children and young people and their families who can be directed to
community-led support. Wellbeing Officer roles have been created to support the delivery of
the Integrated Support and Assessment Team.
The model will be subject to continuous improvement and is likely to be refreshed with potential
changes to the access model / front door service.

Alignment with Primary Care Networks and Provider Collaboration
Care in Doncaster is already provided in a way that aligns with the formation of Primary Care
Networks – PCNs. Five PCNs have been established: North, South, East, Central and 4 Doncaster,
which sit within the existing four neighbourhoods and are the cornerstone of integrated
neighbourhood working. The 4 Doncaster PCN already has clinical pharmacists in post to help
people in a range of different ways. This includes carrying out structured medication reviews for
patients with on-going health problems and improving patient safety, outcomes and value through
a person-centred approach. Each PCN has a dedicated Social Prescribing Lead which will
ultimately help patients live fitter, healthier lives and combat anxiety, loneliness and depression.
PCNs have developed at pace, with expanded neighbourhood teams developed in partnership
with patients, members of the public and local organisations.
There is an alliance of providers who have a joint working agreement to work towards the
establishment of a more collaborative delivery of services for the population of Doncaster in line

Page 132

with the Place Plan. The initial principles of the Doncaster Provider Delivery System agreed by the
Providers with the Council and CCG as Commissioners revolve around:
-Joint decision making
-Objective and outcomes based commissioning
-Public voice and accountability
-Provider Alliance Response Plan
-Finances
-Governance and Decisions
-Contracting
-Provider Subcontracting
-System resource reallocation for the model
-Commissioners quality assurance
The membership of the integrated care delivery group comprises: Doncaster Council and the CCG
(as commissioners), Rotherham, Doncaster and South Humber NHS Foundation Trust, Doncaster
and Bassetlaw Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, FCMS (NW) LTD, Primary Care Doncaster,
St Leger Homes of Doncaster, Doncaster Children’s Service Trust, Voluntary, Community and Faith
Sector and the Doncaster Integrated Care Partnership

Partnership with the Voluntary Sector - VCF
Doncaster’s Place Plan is predicated upon early intervention, prevention and community-led
support services. As such, the CCG have used
Over the past 18 months, the CCG and Council have been working with the local VCF sector to
explore how they can better work in partnership to deliver health and social care outcomes and
address some of the issues Doncaster is facing. A new democratic structure is in place and a new
programme of work is anticipated to put forward in the near future to address local need.
Intermediate Care Rapid Response
This is working across the council and health partners, Yorkshire Ambulance Service and the
Voluntary Sector. BCF funding has continue to be used for building the programme team, test and
redesign the model.
An extended pathway and access route has been deployed whereby an professional can refer to
the service to prevent a hospital admission. A Multi-Disciplinary Team is providing support into
Care Homes to assess and treat individuals who would otherwise have gone to the Emergency
Department in an ambulance.
A number of test projects have been scoped by providers in response to a series of challenges set
by commissioners to encourage collaboration and test some of the aspiration around integration
in the Doncaster place plan. These have included:




Page 133

Simplifying access in preparation for a place-based Single Point of Access
Multi-agency Rapid Response and short term interventions
Integrated rehabilitation and reablement pathway






Shared competency framework - developing a joint workforce development plan
Integrated Digital Care Record
Integrated health and social care dashboard
Developing and testing a new integrated approach to commissioning, contracting and delivery.

The Doncaster Rapid Response Service case study was featured in the new NHS 10 year plan and
was recognised as an exemplar service in the 2019 Health Service Journal Value Awards.
Examples of schemes to support Intermediate Care Rapid Response include:
Community Led Support
Home from Hospital
Single Point of Contact
Integrated Discharge Team

5. A description of how the Doncaster system supports discharge
(National Condition Four)
There is a home first service specification which commissioners have developed; providers are
working towards delivery as a provider alliance which incorporates the guidance from the
discharge policy.
Work is also underway to ensure that Doncaster Adult Social Care Partners fully implement the
Government's Hospital Discharge Policy and operating model to support safe and timely discharge
of people who no longer need to remain in hospital. Work will enable a move toward a different
way of working in Doncaster, embedding the Governments policy and operating model for all
people aged 18 +. It will affect people who are admitted to and subsequently discharged from
hospital who no longer have the right to reside, within the timescales identified ensuring people
have access to a discharge pathway without delays and a Home First approach is adopted reducing
the number of people placed in a bedded setting. The plan also involves a shift in focus to plan
how the team can avoid admission and support a return home and being independent as soon as
possible. The new model will focus on:
• Ensuring people will no longer be unnecessarily assessed in an Acute setting.
• Allowing services to operate 8am – 8pm 7 days a week to support people to return home in a
timely way.
• Making sure people are supported to be safe, with a focus on independence and achieving
optimum recovery.
• A clear MDT decision-making process and wraparound support in the community to ensure that
resources are used effectively to achieve the best outcomes for people.
• Professionals working together changing systems and culture to ensure that people receive the
right support, at the right time in the right place.

Page 134

• Enabling a more accurate analysis of the person’s requirements, adopting a strengths based
approach, enabling choice and embracing risk with most people being discharged to their homes
and connecting them back to their community
• Improving effectiveness and subsequent performance – as set out in the New performance
indicators issued by the Government.
• Ensuring assessments in people’s home environment will result in more timely discharges and
hospital avoidance, therefore reducing length of stay or the need for additional care and support.
This will ensure people are returned to their homes as soon as it’s safe to do so.
• Working with system partners we will develop an increasingly integrated service providing
seamless support to local people.
• Supporting the workforce to benefit from a collaborative approach, eradicating historical
bureaucratic processes with a clear vision and core values. This will provide opportunities to
create an innovative, capable skilled workforce.
Examples of specific schemes to support discharge include:
Hospital Discharge Workers
RAPT (Integrated Discharge Team, Rapid Action)
Hospital Based Social Workers
SPOC/One Point 1
Integrated Discharge Team

6. Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) and wider services
A description of the Doncaster approach for bringing together health, care and housing services
together to support people to remain in their home through adaptations and other activity to
meet the housing needs of older and disabled people.
The Doncaster Integrated Care Partnership Board brings together Local Authority, Housing and
NHS organisations in Doncaster.
As Disabled Facilities Grant – DFG - is a key link to join up policy, operational issues and promote
integration between OT and Housing, workshops are planned to develop more innovative ways of
using DFG to support integrated discharge and bring good practice from elsewhere.
The council is seeking to amend the Housing Adaptations Policy to authorise, depending on
available funds:
1. Grant funding above the mandatory grant limit of £30k
2. Assist with relocation
3. Fund equipment/adaptations that fall outside the mandatory grant criteria
Without essential adaptations, the consequences of customers of the system needing this service
would be dire, increasing hospital and residential care admission. Requests for residential respite
care would increase, a strain on carers who choose to continue to provide care at home would be
stretched. The health and wellbeing of individuals would decline.
In addition, if the works are delayed or not carried out due to the authority’s financial situation,
there may be a possible challenge by way of a judicial review, and the affected applicants may also
consider referring their case to the Local Government Ombudsman.

Page 135

Failure to provide funds to carry out Adaptations to privately owned dwellings would be subject to
a legal challenge as this is a Mandatory Obligation under the Care Act 2014 and the Chronically
Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970.
It has become increasingly difficult to achieve the required adaptations within the current limit of
the £30,000 DFG grant. This is namely due in part that the maximum amount of DFG is currently
set at £30,000 and has been at this level since 2008. Whereas building costs have continued to
rise.
In the past few years, there have been several grants that have gone over the £30,000 mandatory
grant, which has caused difficulty as to how the excess/shortfall would be funded, either by the
local authority or the person applying. This situation has made it difficult for decision-makers to
decide/determine as there is not a policy in place.
The increase in, availability of funding, allows the authority the opportunity to be more flexible in
its use of DFG allocation. This in turn will enable the Council to undertake more disabled
adaptations schemes and assist greater numbers of disabled people, potentially preventing many
applications from progressing.
The Council’s performance on the delivery of DFG’s has been the subject of much debate and
scrutiny of late, particularly, grants going over the mandatory limit of £30,000
The upper limit for major disabled adaptations has not increased since 2008. Since then there has
been an increase in the complexity of needs for disabled applicants, particularly for children,
which are accommodated by property extensions. Adaptations are much more complex than they
used to be, with specialist equipment being required. In addition building costs have increased
significantly over the years.
In these cases, consideration is being given into offering alternative options:-Rehousing to an adapted local authority, housing association or privately rented property,
suitable to meet their identified needs, and assistance with relocation costs up to a maximum of
£5,000. The alternative property must either be already adapted or be adaptable at a reasonable
cost. The grant can be used towards the expenses involved in moving home
-To authorise discretionary grant funding above £30,000.
The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) Order 2002 The Regulatory Reform (Housing
Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002 (RRO) gave local housing authorities the power to
adopt discretionary policies concerning housing interventions to promote independent living and
wellbeing. In 2008, many changes were made to the way DFGs were administered and could be
used which included the relaxation and removal of the ring-fence (2010) allowing DFG monies to
be used more flexibly to help keep people safe and well at home and to reduce bureaucracy in the
grant’s administration. Therefore, permitting Local Authorities the power to adopt a policy use a
discretionary grant to top up if work costs over £30,000. The authority currently has sufficient
funds to meet this demand.
In addition to the above, we are receiving a significant increase in referrals for
equipment/adaptations that fall outside the mandatory DFG criteria, for children with challenging
behaviours. Without timely intervention, many children would be left disadvantaged.
Therefore it is proposed to:

Fund equipment/adaptations that fall outside the mandatory DFG criteria.

Page 136

Each case to be individually judged on its own merits, determined if reasonable, practicable,
necessary and appropriate.
Adaptations and equipment that is provided promptly help those in most need to live
independently for longer, and improve quality of life for the disabled person and their families.
Adaptations can reduce hospital admissions, and reduce the amount of care provision required.
Consequently, the service improves the quality of life and enhances independent living for these
vulnerable groups. The greater feeling of well-being derived, as a result, should reflect a reduction
in demand for services of other health care providers.
Colleagues in Public Health are keen to build on the Affordable Warmth project, which supports
the preparedness for winter and helps households experiencing the impacts of a cold, damp,
unhealthy home. Schemes funded by DFG bring together social care, health, public health and
housing in relation to the wider determinants of health including fuel poverty which can be a
factor in excess winter deaths; this is a key policy priority for the Mayor of the Sheffield City
Region and feeds into the Climate Change objectives

Wider services
Complex Lives works with people affected by multiple disadvantage including rough sleeping ,
drug and alcohol addiction, offending behaviour, mental ill-health and poor physical health. The
Complex Lives model is an example of an integrated, person centred approach for people within
supported accommodation. The Complex Lives model has integrated wider services including
health and social care, drug and alcohol services, mental health, housing, police and criminal
justice system and the VCF sector. The next stage of development includes working on a
managed shift from hostels to a greater focus on dispersed accommodation. A joint agency
agreement is in development for homelessness and rough sleeping, including intensive wrap
around support models and a Doncaster ‘Housing First’ offer. This is delivered through an
Accountable Care Partnership approach. The project recently received the prestigious MJ Award
for Care and Health Integration.
There are other examples how across the system Doncaster is embracing integration and
developing good practice which can be learnt from:
Mental Health
In Mental Health, a new focussed integrated team has been implemented. Social workers are
now based in the Rotherham Doncaster and South Humber NHS Foundation Trust area teams to
achieve social care outcomes for individuals, families and wider support networks.

Page 137

7. Equality and Health Inequalities
A description of the Doncaster system priorities for addressing health inequalities and equality
for people with protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 within integrated health
and social care services.
Decision makers must consider the Council’s duties under the Public Sector Equality Duty of S149
of the Equality Act (2010). The duty requires the public sector such as the Council and NHS, when
exercising its functions, to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate discrimination, harassment
and victimisation and other conduct prohibited under the act, and to advance equality of
opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a ‘protected characteristic’ and
those who do not share it. The localities model of working (asset based community development)
together with the intelligence, data and insight has helped to inform the local priorities related to
health inequality and as a result of the Covid 19 pandemic for addressing health inequalities and
equality for people with protected characteristics within integrated health and social care services.
Well North and Healthier Doncaster are examples of BCF funded programmes to support strategic
collaboration between local areas, public health and educational institutions. The high level aims
of Well North are to;
• Reduce inequalities, improving the health of the poorest fastest
• Increase resilience at individual, household and community levels
• Reduce rates of worklessness, a cause and consequence of poor health
The Healthier Doncaster programme seeks to tackle the underlying causes of ill health through
behaviour change techniques such as motivational interviewing, coaching and brief intervention.
The online information and assessment aspect of this service will be available 7 days a week.
Both programmes utilise resources from link workers who co-ordinate with local priorities having
particular regard to the needs of Black, Minority Ethnic groups. The Doncaster system has been
identified as an exemplar of best practice by the Social care institute for excellence for working
with the gypsy traveller, Black and other minority and less affluent communities to help identify
and tackle health inequalities specifically through:
-co-productive, assets-based community development (within the BAME community) that aims to
engage, strengthen and build resilience in light of COVID-19.
-Working with relevant stakeholders, organisations or networks to ensure a public health
approach is reflected across local service planning, delivery, and policy for the BAME community.
-Coordinating patient /service users, public and partner involvement in the development, delivery,
and evaluation of public health initiatives through a variety of methods such as consultations,
surveys, workshops, and research.

Page 138

Appendix 2 Better Care Total Pooled Budget Plan 2021/22

Source of Funding
Disabled Facilities
Grant
iBCF
iBCF
iBCF
iBCF
iBCF
Better Care Fund
Better Care Fund
Better Care Fund
Better Care Fund
Better Care Fund
Better Care Fund
Better Care Fund
Better Care Fund
Better Care Fund
Better Care Fund
Better Care Fund
Better Care Fund

Page 139

Scheme Type
Capital DFG Related Schemes
Enablers for Integration
Home Care or Domiciliary Care
Integrated Care Planning and Navigation
Personalised Budgeting and Commissioning
Residential Placements
Assistive Technologies and Equipment
Bed based intermediate Care Services
Care Act Implementation Related Duties
Carers Services
Community Based Schemes
Enablers for Integration
High Impact Change Model for Managing Transfer of
Care
Home Care or Domiciliary Care
Housing Related Schemes
Integrated Care Planning and Navigation
Prevention / Early Intervention
Reablement in a person’s own home
Total Pooled Budget Plan 2021/22

Total
£'000
2,782
2,323
1,504
771
4,503
6,730
1,087
15,689
200
1,105
625
91
1,915
1,932
85
1,393
1,779
72
44,586

This page is intentionally left blank

